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The Directors present their report together with the consolidated financial report of the Consolidated Entity, being the Company and its subsidiaries 
for the year ended 30 June 2013 and the auditor’s report thereon. 
 
1. Directors 
 
The Directors of the Company at any time during or since the end of the financial year are: 
 
Non-Executive Chairman – Gerard J McMahon (appointed 23 April 2013 as a Non-Executive Director and Chairman as of 6 June 2013) 
 
Mr Gerard McMahon is admitted as a Barrister in Hong Kong and New South Wales and has been living and working in Hong Kong for over 35 
years.  He is a Non-Executive Chairman of ASX listed Oriental Technologies Investment Limited (appointed 1999). He is also a Non-Executive 
Director of Hong Kong listed Guangnan (Holdings) Limited (appointed 2000), and Non-Executive Director of Indonesian Investment Fund Limited 
(appointed 2001) a company listed on the Irish Stock Exchange. Mr McMahon is also a consultant to Asian Capital (Corporate Finance) Limited, a 
Hong Kong based corporate finance and advisory firm which he co-founded. Over the past 30 years, Mr McMahon has been a Director of other 
listed Companies in the Asia Pacific region which are involved in the banking, manufacturing, retailing, information technology, medical, telecoms & 
mining industries. Mr McMahon’s past experience includes extensive involvement in Hong Kong’s Securities and Futures Commission as its Chief 
Counsel, Member and Executive Director and is specialised in Hong Kong company law, securities and banking law and takeovers and mergers 
regulations. 

Special responsibilities - Member of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration and Nomination Committee. 
 
Non-Executive Director – Arthur G Dew, B.A., L.L.B. (appointed 2 December 2011) 
 
Mr Arthur Dew is a non-practising Barrister with a broad range of corporate and business experience and has served as a Director, and in some 
instances Chairman of the Board of Directors, of a number of publicly listed companies in Australia, Hong Kong and elsewhere.  He is Chairman 
and Non-Executive Director of Allied Group Limited; a Hong Kong listed company which is indirectly Tanami Gold NL’s largest shareholder. Mr Dew 
is also Chairman and Non-Executive Director of the Hong Kong listed companies, Allied Properties (H.K.) Limited and Allied Overseas Limited and 
is a Non-Executive Director of SHK Hong Kong Industries Limited. Mr Dew was appointed a Non-Executive Director of ASX listed Eurogold Limited 
on 23 October 2012. 
 
Special responsibilities – Mr Dew was a Member of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration and Nomination Committee until 6 June 2013. 
 
Non-Executive Director – Lee Seng Hui, LL.B. (appointed 5 March 2008)  
 
Mr Lee Seng Hui is currently the Chief Executive of Allied Group Limited (AGL), a Hong Kong listed company, having been appointed in January 
1998. Mr Lee graduated with Honours from the Law School of the University of Sydney and worked with Baker & McKenzie and N M Rothschild & 
Sons (Hong Kong) Limited. Following his appointment as a Non-Executive Director of AGL in July 1992, Mr Lee became an Executive Director of 
AGL in December 1993. On 2 October 2009, Mr Lee was appointed as a Non-Executive Director of APAC Resources Limited which is a Hong Kong 
listed company. On 18 June 2010, Mr Lee was appointed as the Chief Executive and Executive Director of Allied Properties (H.K.) Limited (APL); a 
Hong Kong listed company which is indirectly Tanami Gold NL’s largest shareholder and a non wholly-owned subsidiary of AGL. He is also a Non-
Executive Director and Chairman of Tian An China Investments Company Limited which is a Hong Kong listed company and an associate of AGL 
and APL. Mr Lee was appointed to the Board of Mount Gibson Iron Limited as a Non-Executive Director on 29 January 2010.  
 
Non-Executive Director – Carlisle C Procter, B.Ec, M.Ec, FFin, (appointed 9 December 2011) 
 
Mr Carlisle Procter graduated from the University of Sydney with a Bachelor's Degree and a Master's Degree in Economics. He is a fellow of the 
Financial Services Institute of Australasia (FFin.). Based in Australia, Mr Procter worked in the Reserve Bank of Australia for over 30 years, holding 
various senior management positions. Since leaving the Reserve Bank, he has worked as a consultant to the International Monetary Fund and the 
Asian Development Bank and has also undertaken private consulting work in the Philippines, Indonesia and Papua New Guinea in the areas of 
bank supervision, anti-money laundering and corporate governance respectively. Mr Procter is currently a Non-Executive Director of Bank South 
Pacific Limited, a company listed on the Port Moresby Stock Exchange, and an independent Non-Executive Director of Sun Hung Kai & Co Limited 
and Allied Overseas Limited.  Mr Procter was appointed a Non-Executive Director of ASX listed Eurogold Limited on 29 November 2012. 
 
Special responsibilities – Chairman of the Audit Committee and Member Remuneration and Nomination Committee. 
 
Non-Executive Director – Brett Montgomery (appointed 6 February 2013) 
 
Mr Brett Montgomery has extensive experience in the management of publicly listed mining companies having previously been the Managing 
Director of Kalimantan Gold NL, a Director of Grants Patch Mining Limited and Chairman and Joint Managing Director of Eurogold Limited.  Mr 
Montgomery was appointed a Non-Executive Director of Magnum Gas and Power Limited on 9 October 2008. 

Special responsibilities - Member of the Audit Committee and Chairman of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee. 
 
Deputy Chairman/Executive Director – Denis P Waddell, ACA, FAICD (appointed 21 July 1995; resigned 15 November 2012) 
 
Non-Executive Director – Alan A Senior, AsscshpMechEng, FIEAUST, FAusIMM (appointed 31 July 2007; resigned 15 November 2012) 
 
Non-Executive Director – Martin Pyle, BSc Hons, MBA (appointed 12 April 2013; resigned 20 April 2013) 
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2. Company Secretary  
 
Pauline Collinson was appointed Company Secretary on 18 July 2013 and has over 25 years’ experience in the mining industry. 
 
Jon Latto B.Com CA MBA GradDipAppCorpGov ACIS (appointed 1 September 2010; resigned 18 July 2013). 
  
3. Directors’ Meetings 

Director

Eligible to Attend Attended Eligible to Attend Attended Eligible to Attend Attended

Mr G McMahon 2 2 - - - -
Mr A Dew 9 8 2 2 1 1
Mr SH Lee 9 5 - - - -
Mr C Procter 9 9 2 1 1 1
Mr B Montgomery 4 4 1 1 - -
Mr D Waddell 3 3 1 1 - -
Mr A Senior 3 3 1 1 - -
Mr M Pyle 1 1 - - - -
Mr M Wong* 1 - - - - -
* Alternate for Mr Dew

Board Meetings Audit Committee Meetings Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee Meetings

 
4. Nature of Operations and Principal Activities 
 
The Company is a no liability company and is domiciled and incorporated in Australia. The principal activity of the Consolidated Entity during the 
course of the financial year was gold mining operations and mineral exploration. 
 
5. Operating and Financial Review 
 
Operating Overview 
 
During the year ended 30 June 2013, Tanami Gold NL was an ASX listed gold producing and exploration company.  The Company’s mining and 
exploration centres are situated in the Tanami Desert straddling the Western Australian and Northern Territory border.  The Company’s Coyote 
Gold Project (‘Coyote’) is located in Western Australia and consists of a 350,000 tonnes per annum carbon-in-leach treatment plant and an 
underground mine.  The Company’s Central Tanami Project (‘CTP’) is located adjacent to the Tanami Road and approximately 90 kilometres east 
of Coyote.  
 
In April 2013, following a substantial fall in the gold price the Company: 
 

 Placed Coyote on care and maintenance; 
 

 Decided to broaden the scope of the internal studies on its Kavanagh deposit; 
 

 Deferred a development decision on CTP; 
 

 Switched focus to a renewed exploration effort; and 
 

 Undertook a major review of the Company’s strategic direction and its cost base. 
 
Coyote Gold Project  
 
During the year ended 30 June 2013, Coyote processed 118,422t @ 6.54g/t Au from the underground and 73,319t @ 2.43g/t Au from open pit 
sources for a total of 191,741 tonnes of ore at an average grade of 5.03g/t Au delivering 30,216 recovered ounces of gold.  Access to the ore was 
reliant on equipment availability and utilisation and breakdowns of critical elements of the mining fleet resulted in development delays leading to 
production shortfalls.  These issues, in conjunction with the likelihood of the Muttley lode being exhausted by the end of June 2013 and a major fall 
in the gold price, meant Coyote was unable to meet the Company’s costs as structured at that time.  As a result, the underground operations 
ceased on 24 April 2013 and the mine was shifted into care and maintenance status.   
 
Dewatering of the Coyote underground has continued since April and will be kept under review.  Partial flooding of the underground mine has 
occurred in some areas judged to be no longer viable.  
 
Any recommencement of operations at Coyote will be dependent on the results of an exploration drill program which is discussed below in the 
Business Strategies and Prospects section of this report.  The exploration program will follow on from the initial drilling program which identified an 
inferred Maiden Mineral Resource for the Kavanagh deposit of 122,000t @ 25.2g/t Au for 100,000 ounces of gold.   



 TANAMI GOLD NL 
DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 (CONTINUED)  

5 
 

 
Central Tanami Project  
 
The Definitive Feasibility Study (‘DFS’) for CTP was substantially completed in April 2013 and considered various combinations of open pit and 
underground developments.  The DFS concluded that the combined impact of the lower gold price and higher stripping ratios for the open cut 
scenarios meant the investment case for a combined development could not presently be demonstrated with the current Resource.  However, 
recent optimisation of the DFS, based on an all underground mine, indicates potential for future development subject to a number of criteria, 
particularly achieving an increase in the Mineral Resource base.   
 
The Company judge’s further exploration of the CTP leases is warranted, particularly at the Groundrush deposit, which the Board considers a 
flagship asset.  The decision to proceed with exploration however has been deferred until the Company is in a sounder financial position. 
 
The Groundrush deposit currently has a Mineral Resource estimate of 6.72Mt @ 4.8g/t Au for 1,040,000 ounces of gold. 
 
Regional Exploration 
 
During the year the Company’s regional exploration programs delivered positive results with a significant amount of grassroots exploration and field 
mapping conducted.  In April 2013, a review of the exploration budget for the remainder of 2013 was conducted with the aim of reducing the 
ongoing exploration spend to a minimum whilst ensuring the tenements are kept in good standing.  As such, several of the Company’s regional drill 
programs were postponed until the 2014 drilling season. 
 
Consolidated Financial Overview 
 
The Consolidated Entity has generated a total comprehensive loss for the year ended 30 June 2013 of $66,308,282 (2012: Loss $4,326,014).  The 
result was significantly impacted by $21.4 million of asset impairments, $18.1 million of exploration write offs and $4.1 million of redundancy costs 
associated with placing Coyote on care and maintenance.  Full details of the asset impairments, exploration write offs and redundancy costs can be 
found in notes 4, 5 and 14 of the notes to the financial statements. 
 
During the financial year ended 30 June 2013 the Company has also:  
 

 Sold down its investment in ABM Resources NL; 
 

 Completed a fully underwritten pro-rata renounceable Entitlements Issue raising A$65.3 million (before costs); 
 

 Repaid in full its debt facilities with AP Finance Limited of approximately A$57.7 million; and 
 

 Secured additional funding by way of a A$15.0 million loan with Sun Hung Kai International Bank (Brunei) Limited (‘SHKIBBL’). 
 
Further detail is provided in the Corporate section below. 

Business Strategies and Prospects 
 
The Company continues to maintain an ongoing focus towards reducing its care and maintenance fixed costs and overheads.   
 
The Company will further explore the Kavanagh deposit.  A successful programme together with further cost reductions and an improvement in the 
gold price, could present an economic case for recommencing production.  The exploration program is expected to take some 4 months and will 
cost approximately $3.5 million.  The proposed drilling will target extensions to the known Resource, explore at depth for repetitions of the 
mineralised system and seek to upgrade a portion of the existing Resource from inferred to indicated status.       
 
The Board is working with various parties to secure funding to ensure the Company remains financially viable while the drilling program and 
subsequent evaluation proceeds.  As part of this process, the Company has sought to delay the repayment date of the A$15.0 million loan facility 
with SHKIBBL to 31 March 2015.  The Company is in continuing discussions with various third parties regarding possible corporate proposals and 
funding options.  
 
The Board’s primary concern is to restore and grow shareholder value.    
   
Corporate 
 
Board Restructure and Management Changes 
 
On 15 November 2012, the Company’s former Deputy Chairman/Executive Director Mr Denis Waddell and former Non-Executive Director Mr Alan 
Senior resigned to pursue personal interests. 
 
On 26 November 2012, the Company announced the appointment of Mr Peter Cordin as acting Chief Executive Officer of the Company.  Mr Cordin 
left the Company on 21 May 2013 after the completion of the DFS for the development of the CTP. 
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On 6 February 2013 and 23 April 2013, the Company announced that its Board had been further strengthened by the appointments of Independent 
Non-Executive Directors Mr Brett Montgomery and Mr Gerard McMahon.  Both Independent Non-Executive Directors have extensive experience in 
the management of publically listed companies. 
 
On 6 June 2013, Mr Gerard McMahon was elected Chairman of the Company, replacing Mr Arthur Dew. Consequently, the Chairman of the 
Company is now an Independent Non-Executive Director, reflecting the Company’s continued commitment to the Australian Securities Exchange 
Corporate Governance Principals and Recommendations.  Mr Dew remains on the Board of the Company as a Non-Executive Director. 
 
Sale of investment in ABM Resources NL 
 
In October 2012, the Company sold 70,103,203 of its shares in ABM Resources NL (‘ABM’) at an average price of 5.4 cents per share receiving 
approximately $3.8 million.   
 
In February 2013, the Company sold 11,607,699 of its remaining shares in ABM at a price of 4.6 cents per share receiving approximately $0.53 
million.   
 
At 30 June 2013, the Company retained 78,392,301 shares in ABM valued at 2.4 cents per share (for a value of approximately $1.9 million).  
Subsequent sales of AMB shares post reporting date are discussed below in the Events Subsequent to Reporting Date section of this report. 
 
Fully underwritten pro-rata renounceable Entitlements Issue 
 
On 4 February 2013, the Company announced it had reached an agreement with Patersons Securities Limited to underwrite a renounceable pro-
rata Entitlement Issue (‘Issue’ or ‘Offer’) to raise $65.3 million before costs. 
 
The Issue was made to eligible shareholders at an issue price of 20 cents per share on the basis of 5 new shares for every 4 shares held.  The 
Issue was strongly supported by shareholders with 91% of the shares on offer (including shortfall applications) taken up by existing shareholders. 
 
The Company used the funds raised under the Offer as follows: 
 

 Repayment of outstanding debt to AP Finance Limited including accrued interest and charges (approximately A$57.7 million); 
 

 Completion of the DFS at CTP;  
 

 Expenses of the Offer; and  
 

 Additional working capital. 
 
Repayment of outstanding debt to AP Finance Limited 
 
Following the Entitlement Issue, the Company repaid its loan facilities with AP Finance Limited.  In total the Company repaid HK$464.3 million 
(approximately A$57.7 million) to extinguish its debt (including accrued interest and charges) to AP Finance Limited. 
 
Of this amount, A$35.0 million was paid in March 2013, A$6.5 million was paid in April 2013 and the balance of A$16.2 million offset against the 
entitlement of Allied Properties Resources Limited (and shortfall allocation) under the Entitlement Issue. 
 
Loan Facility with Sun Hung Kai International Bank (Brunei) Limited (SHKIBBL) 
 
On 5 April 2013, the Company announced that it had entered into an A$15.0 million unsecured loan facility with SHKIBBL.   
 
At 30 June 2013, the Company had drawn down A$9.0 million under its loan facility with SHKIBBL leaving A$6.0 million in unused funds remaining.  
 
These drawdowns were used to the assist with funding the Company’s: 
 

 Ongoing care and maintenance costs at Coyote; 
 

 Redundancy payments associated with placing Coyote on care and maintenance; and 
 

 Provision of additional working capital. 
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Community Relations 
 
The Company recognises the importance of developing relationships based on trust and mutual advantage and in respecting the needs and 
concerns of the communities located within the regions in which it operates. 
 
The Company has agreements in place with the Traditional Owners and is committed to building strong relationships by: 
 

 Being open and transparent in its communications; 
 

 Improving cross-cultural awareness through training and education; 
 

 Developing community relations management procedures that include business alliances; 
 

 Being sensitive to the values and heritage issues of the local communities; and 
 

 Being a good neighbour. 
 
6. Environmental Regulation 
 
The Consolidated Entity’s operations are subject to environmental regulations under Commonwealth and State legislation. The Directors believe 
that the Consolidated Entity has adequate systems in place for the management of the requirements under those regulations, and are not aware of 
any breach of such requirements as they apply to the Consolidated Entity. 
 
7. Significant Changes in the State of Affairs 
 
Significant changes to the Company’s State of Affairs have been set out in the Operating and Financial Review above. 
  
8. Dividends 
 
The Directors have not recommended the declaration of a dividend.  No dividends were paid or declared during the year. 

 
9. Events Subsequent to Reporting Date 
 
During the period from 1 July 2013 to 2 September 2013, the Company progressively drew down the remaining A$6.0 million available under its 
unsecured A$15.0 million loan facility with SHKIBBL (the use of these funds is set out in section 5 above). 
 
On 9 August 2013, the Company lodged a Mining Rehabilitation Fund (‘MRF’) application with the WA Department of Mines and Petroleum for the 
return of its $2.3 million Coyote rehabilitation bond.  The Company has opted to partake in the MRF early where the fund contribution rate is 
proposed to be 1 percent of the Coyote rehabilitation liability estimate.   
 
On 26 August 2013, the Company sold its remaining 78,392,301 shares in ABM at an average price of 3.4 cents per share receiving approximately 
$2.6 million.   
 
On 18 September 2013, the Company reached an agreement with AP Finance Limited for a new unsecured loan facility of approximately A$12.0 
million.   
 
On 24 September 2013, the Company signed a Supplementary Loan Agreement with SHKIBBL to extend the repayment of its existing A$15.0 
million loan facility from 30 June 2014 to 31 March 2015.  
 
10. Likely Developments 
 
The Company is looking to strengthen its asset base through continued significant expenditure on intensive Resource and Reserve definition 
exploration to develop and optimise the Coyote Gold Project. The success of this exploration together with further cost reductions and some 
improvement in the gold price may mean the Company can show an economic case for going back into production (subject to Board approval).  
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11. Directors’ Interests 
 
The relevant interest of each director in shares and options of the Company, as notified by the directors to the Australian Securities Exchange in 
accordance with section S205G(1) of the Corporations Act 2001, at the date of this report is as follows:   

 
Directors Relevant Interest of Directors in Securities of Tanami Gold NL 

 Fully Paid Shares Unquoted Options 

Mr G McMahon - - 

Mr A Dew - - 

Mr SH Lee* 142,818,734 - 

Mr C Procter - - 

Mr B Montgomery - - 

 
* These shares are held by Allied Properties Resources Limited, a company in which Mr SH Lee (together with others as trustees of the Lee and 
Lee Trust) has an interest of 65.02% (2012: 64.90%).  Accordingly, Mr SH Lee is taken to have a relevant interest in the 142,818,734 (2012: 
61,378,788) shares held by Allied Properties Resources Limited. 

 
12. Share Options 
 
Options granted to Directors and Executives of the Company 
 
During or since the end of the financial year, the Company granted options for no consideration over unissued ordinary shares in the Company to 
the following directors and to the following most highly remunerated officers of the Company as part of their remuneration: 
 

 Number of options granted Exercise Price Expiry Date 

Directors    

Mr G McMahon - - - 

Mr A Dew - - - 

Mr SH Lee - - - 

Mr C Procter - - - 

Mr B Montgomery - - - 

Former Directors    

Mr D Waddell - - - 

Mr A Senior - - - 

Former Executives    

Mr A Czerw - - - 

Mr J Latto* 91,668 $0.20 - 

 
*The options were granted during the financial year to Mr Latto as a result of the Company putting in place limited recourse loans with eligible 
employees to allow them to take up their entitlements under the Entitlements Issue.  The limited recourse loans, considered in substance options, 
have been disclosed in accordance with S300(1) of the Corporations Act 2001.  No options have been granted to key management personnel of the 
Company since the end of the financial year.   
 
Unissued shares under option 
 
At the date of this report the unissued ordinary shares in the Company under option are: 
 

Number Type Exercise Price Expiry Date 

*300,000 Unquoted $1.34 21 December 2016 

**1,975,000 Unquoted $0.90 28 March 2017 

**262,500 Unquoted $1.00 28 March 2017 

2,537,500    

 
* The 300,000 options granted to Mr Alan Senior, a former Director of the Company will expire on 21 December 2016 and not before. 
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** The options expire on the earlier of their expiry date or six months from the date on which the option holder’s employment with the Company is 
terminated, subject to the Board of Directors waiving this condition.  These options do not entitle the holder to participate in any share issue of the 
Company or any other body corporate. 
 
During the year, the following options were forfeited due to performance criteria not being achieved or cessation of employment. 
 

Exercise Price Number of Options Grant Date Expiry Date 

$6.00 58,334 23 November 2007 22 November 2012 

$4.50        58,334 23 November 2007 22 November 2012 

$0.90 325,000 29 March 2012 28 March 2017 

$1.00 2,037,500 29 March 2012 28 March 2017 

$1.10 500,000 29 March 2012 28 March 2017 

 
Shares issued 
 
Since the end of the financial year, there were no shares issued. 
 
Shares issued on exercise of options 
 
During the financial year, no shares were issued by the Company as a result of the exercise of options.  

 
13. Remuneration Report – audited 
 
Remuneration is referred to as compensation throughout this report. 
 
Key management personnel have authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company and the 
Consolidated Entity. Key management personnel comprise the directors of the Company and executives of the Company and the Consolidated 
Entity. 
 
Compensation levels for key management personnel of the Company and relevant key management personnel of the Consolidated Entity are 
competitively set to attract and retain appropriately qualified and experienced directors and executives.   
 
The compensation structures explained below are designed to attract suitably qualified candidates, reward the achievement of strategic objectives, 
and to achieve the broader outcome of creation of value for shareholders.  Compensation packages include a mix of fixed compensation and 
equity-based compensation as well as employer contributions to superannuation funds. 
 
Shares and options may only be issued to directors subject to approval by shareholders in a general meeting. 
 
The Board has no established retirement or redundancy schemes. 
 
13.1.1 Fixed Compensation 
 
Fixed compensation consists of base compensation (which is calculated on a total cost basis and includes any FBT charges related to employee 
benefits), as well as employer contributions to superannuation funds. 
 
Compensation levels are reviewed annually through a process that considers individual performance and the overall performance of the 
Consolidated Entity.   
 
13.1.2 Performance-linked Compensation (short-term incentive bonus) 
 
The Company has not paid any performance linked short-term incentives to key management personnel during the financial year ended 30 June 
2013. 

13.1.3 Equity-based Compensation (long-term incentive bonus) 
 
The Company has in place an Option and Performance Rights Plan.  Options may only be issued to directors subject to approval by shareholders in 
a general meeting. 
 
The Remuneration and Nomination Committee uses equity-based long-term incentives (LTIs) where appropriate to promote continuity of 
employment and to provide additional incentive to increase shareholder wealth.  LTIs are provided as options over ordinary shares of the Company 
and are provided to key management personnel and employees based on their level of seniority and position within the Company and are 
exercisable on various dates. 
 
LTIs shall be in such form and content and with such terms and conditions as the Board determines, including exercise price, vesting conditions, 
disposal conditions and terms of expiry. 
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If the option holder ceases to be a director and/or employee of the Company during the vesting period for any reason, the options will expire six 
months after cessation (subject to the exercise of discretion by the Board) and cease to carry any rights or benefits unless otherwise approved by 
the Remuneration and Nomination Committee. 
 
13.1.4   Equity-based Compensation (long-term incentive bonus) 
 
There are no voting or dividend rights attached to the options.  Voting rights will be attached to the ordinary issued shares when the options have 
been exercised. 
 
On 20 September 2012 the Company introduced a policy that prohibits those that are granted share-based payments as part of their remuneration 
from entering into other arrangements that limit their exposure to losses that would result from share price decreases.  Entering into such 
arrangements has been prohibited by law since 1 July 2011.   
 
13.1.5   Consequences of Performance on Shareholder Wealth 
 
The Company continues to focus on enhancing shareholder wealth through the development of a significant production profile and an ongoing 
commitment to exploration aimed at increasing the Company’s Resource inventory at its Coyote Gold Project and at its Central Tanami Project.  
The Company has reduced its workforce and remuneration, in the process of restructuring the remuneration program.  The aim of the remuneration 
plan restructure is to minimize the ongoing costs incurred by the Company whilst it continues to explore the Kavanagh deposit.  To assist 
shareholders in assessing the Consolidated Entity’s performance and benefits for shareholder wealth, the Company reports the following data for 
the current financial year and the previous four financial years: 
 

 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 
(Loss)/profit attributable to owners of the 
Company 

($66,308,282) ($4,304,922) 
 

$972,405 $353,667 ($21,029,451) 

Dividends paid - - - - - 
Share price as at 30 June $0.054 $0.730 $0.895 $0.041 $0.028 

 
13.1.6   Service Contracts 
 
Compensation and other terms of employment for directors and key management personnel are formalised in contracts of employment.  The major 
provisions of the agreements relating to compensation are set out below. 

Mrs Pauline Collinson – Company Secretary 
Mrs Collinson is employed on a contract basis as Company Secretary.  The arrangement can be terminated by either party without notice and 
without a termination payment. Mrs Collinson has been Company Secretary since 18 July 2013.  
 
Mr Denis Waddell – Deputy Chairman/Executive Director 
Mr Waddell was employed on a contract basis as Executive Director.  The arrangement could be terminated by either party without notice and 
without a termination payment. Mr Waddell resigned on 15 November 2012.  
 
Mr Andrew Czerw – General Manager 
Mr Czerw had a contract of employment with the Company dated 10 October 2011 as Geology Manager.  The contract specifies the duties and 
obligations to be fulfilled by the Geology Manager.  The contract could be terminated by either party by the provision of three months’ notice which, 
based on current remuneration rates, would amount to a termination payment of $90,000 (2012: $90,000).  The position of General Manager was 
made redundant by the Company on 18 July 2013.   
 
Mr Jon Latto – Company Secretary/Chief Financial Officer 
Mr Latto had a contract of employment with the Company dated 14 September 2007. The contract specified the duties and obligations to be fulfilled 
by the Chief Financial Officer. The contract may be terminated by either party by the provision of three months’ notice which, based on current 
remuneration rates, would amount to a termination payment of $73,750 (2012: $73,750). The position of Chief Financial Officer was made 
redundant by the Company on 18 July 2013. 
 
No remuneration consultants were engaged by the Company during the year. 
 
13.2 Non-executive directors 
Non-executive directors do not receive performance related compensation.  Directors' fees cover all main board activities and membership of any 
committee.  The Board has not established retirement or redundancy schemes in relation to non-executive directors. 
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13.     Remuneration Report – audited (continued) 

 
13.3 Directors’ and executive officers’ remuneration 
 
Details of the nature and amounts of each major element of the remuneration of each director of the Company and each of the named officers of the Company and the Consolidated Entity receiving the highest 
remuneration are: 

Share Based 
Payments

In dollars

Salary & Fees Accrued 
Remuneration

Payment of 
Accrued Annual 
Leave & Long 
Service Leave

STI Cash 
Bonuses

Non Monetary 
Benefits

Super-
annuation 
Benefits

Calculated 
Value of 
Options 

(Non Cash)

Total 
Remuneration

Proportion of 
Remuneration 
Performance 

Related 
%

Value of 
Options as a 
Proportion of 

Total 
Remuneration

Directors $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ % %
G McMahon (i) 2013 12,000   -    -    -    -  1,080   -  13,080   -    -  
(Non-Executive Chairman) 2012   -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -  
A Dew 2013 73,333   -    -    -    -  6,600   -  79,933   -    -  
(Non-Executive Director) 2012 43,466   -    -    -    -  3,912   -  47,378   -    -  
SH Lee 2013 55,000   -    -    -    -  4,950   -  59,950   -    -  
(Non-Executive Director) 2012 32,083   -    -    -    -  2,888   -  34,971   -    -  
C Procter 2013 55,000   -    -    -    -  4,950   -  59,950   -    -  
(Non-Executive Director) 2012   -  32,083   -    -    -  2,888   -  34,971   -    -  
B Montgomery (ii) 2013 21,154   -    -    -    -    -    -  21,154   -    -  
(Non-Executive Director) 2012   -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -  

Former Directors
D Waddell (iii) 2013 216,500   -    -    -  6,788   -    -  223,288   -    -  
(Deputy Chairman/Executive Director) 2012 372,250 98,000   -    -  8,741   -    -  478,991   -    -  
A Senior (iv) 2013 22,917   -    -    -    -  2,063   -  24,980   -    -  
(Non-Executive Director) 2012 55,000   -    -    -    -  4,950 130,151 190,101   -  68.46%

Total all specified Directors 2013 455,904   -    -    -  6,788 19,643   -  482,335   -    -  
2012 502,799 130,083   -    -  8,741 14,637 130,151 786,412   -    -  

Executives
A Czerw 2013 360,000   -    -    -  3,863 32,400 143,917 540,180   -  26.64%
(General Manager) 2012 192,500   -    -    -  4,979 17,325 118,083 332,887   -  35.47%
J Latto 2013 295,000   -    -    -  3,863 26,550 86,731 412,144   -  21.04%
(Company Secretary/Chief Financial Officer) 2012 285,000   -    -    -  6,638 25,650 48,688 365,976   -  13.30%

Former Executives
P Cordin (v) 2013 257,996   -    -    -  1,353   -    -  259,349   -    -  
(Acting Chief Executive Officer) 2012   -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -  

Total all named Executives 2013 912,996   -    -    -  9,079 58,950 230,648 1,211,673 - -
2012 477,500   -    -    -  11,617 42,975 166,771 698,863 - -

Total all specified Directors 2013 1,368,900   -    -    -  15,867 78,593 230,648 1,694,008 - -
and Executives 2012 980,299 130,083   -    -  20,358 57,613 296,922 1,485,275 - -

(i) Appointed April 2013.

(ii) Appointed February 2013.

(iii) Appointed July 1995, resigned November 2012.

(iv) Appointed July 2007, resigned November 2012.

(v) Appointed November 2012, resigned May 2013.

Short Term
Post 

Employment
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13.  Remuneration Report – audited (continued) 
 
13.4 Equity instruments - audited 
 
13.4.1 Options over equity instruments granted as compensation - audited 
 
Details on options over ordinary shares in the Company that were granted as compensation to key management personnel during the 
reporting period and details of options that vested during the reporting period are as follows: 
 

 Balance 
1 July 2012 

Granted 
during 
2013 

Options 
Exercised 

Options 
Forfeited 

Options 
Expired 

Balance  
30 June 

2013 

Vested 
30 June 

2013 

Vested and 
Exercisable  

30 June 2013 

Vested and 
Un-Exercisable 
30 June 2013 

Directors 

Mr G McMahon - - - - - - - - - 

Mr A Dew - - - - - - - - - 

Mr SH Lee - - - - - - - - - 

Mr C Procter - - - - - - - - - 

Mr B Montgomery - - - - - - - - - 

Former Directors 

Mr D Waddell - - - - - - - - - 

Mr A Senior 416,668 - - - (116,668) 300,000 300,000 300,000 - 

Former Company Executives 

Mr A Czerw 1,500,000 - - (1,000,000) - 500,000 500,000 500,000 - 

Mr J Latto 500,000 - - (250,000) - 250,000 250,000 250,000 - 

(The options in this table relate to key management personnel only) 
 
13.4.2 Modifications of terms of equity-settled share-based payment transactions  
 
No terms of equity-settled share-based payment transactions (including options and rights granted as compensation to key management 
personnel) have been altered or modified by the issuing entity during the reporting period or the prior period. 
 
13.4.3  Exercise of options granted as compensation 
 
During the financial year, no shares were issued on the exercise of options previously granted as compensation to key management 
personnel.  
 
13.4.4 Analysis of options and rights over equity instruments granted as compensation - audited 
 
Details of the options granted and vesting profiles of the options granted as remuneration to key management personnel of the Company 
are detailed below: 

 

Options Granted Vesting Profile 
 

Number Date 
Fair 

value  
Exercise 
price $ Expiry date 

% Vested 
in year 

% Forfeited 
in year 

Financial 
year in 
which 

grant vests 
Directors 

Mr G McMahon - - - - - - - - 

Mr A Dew - - - - - - - - 

Mr SH Lee - - - - - - - - 

Mr C Procter - - - - - - - - 

Mr B Montgomery - - - - - - - - 

Former Directors 

Mr D Waddell - - - - - - - - 

Mr A Senior 300,000 22 Dec 2011 $0.434 $1.34 21 Dec 2016 100% - 2012 

Former Company Executives 

Mr A Czerw 500,000 29 Mar 2012 $0.524 $0.90 18 Jan 2014 100% - 2013 

Mr A Czerw 500,000 29 Mar 2012 - - - - 100% - 

Mr A Czerw 500,000 29 Mar 2012 - - - - 100% - 

Mr J Latto 250,000 29 Mar 2012 $0.524 $0.90 18 Jan 2014 100% - 2013 

Mr J Latto 250,000 29 Mar 2012 - - - - 100% - 
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13.        Remuneration Report – audited (continued) 
 
(The options in this table relate to key management personnel only) 
 
13.4.5 Analysis of movements in options and rights 
 
There were no options granted during the financial year ended 30 June 2013 to key management personnel.  There were no options 
exercised and 1,366,668 options were forfeited due to performance criteria not being achieved or cessation of employment.  
  
14.  Non-Audit Services 
 
During the year KPMG, the Consolidated Entity's auditor, performed certain other services in addition to their statutory duties.  

The Board has established certain procedures to ensure that the provision of non-audit services are compatible with, and do not 
compromise, the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001.  These procedures include: 

a. Non-audit services will be subject to the corporate governance procedures adopted by the Company and will be reviewed by the Audit 
Committee to ensure they do not impact the integrity and objectivity of the auditor. 
 

b. Ensuring non-audit services do not involve the auditors reviewing or auditing their own work, acting in a management or decision 
making capacity for the Company, acting as an advocate for the Company or jointly sharing risks and rewards. 

 
Details of the amounts paid or payable to the auditor of the Company, KPMG, and its related practices for audit and non-audit services 
provided during the year are set out below.  
 Consolidated 
 2013 2012 
 $ $ 
Audit services   
Auditors of the Company:   
Audit and review of financial reports 204,703 148,644 
   
Other services (tax and accounting advice) 
 

13,995  6,200 

 
15.  Indemnification and Insurance of Officers  
 
Indemnification 
The Company has agreed to indemnify both the current directors of the Company and former directors against liability incurred to a third 
party (not being the Company or any related company) that may arise from their positions as directors of the Company and its controlled 
entities, unless the liability arises out of conduct involving a lack of good faith. 
 
The Company has also agreed to cover the costs and expenses incurred in successfully defending civil or criminal proceedings, or in 
connection with a successful application for relief under the Corporations Act 2001. The Company also provides indemnity against costs and 
expenses in connection with an application where a court grants relief to a director under the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
Insurance Premiums 
Since the end of the 2012 financial year, the Company has paid insurance premiums in respect of directors' and officers' liability insurance, 
for the directors of the controlled entity.  In accordance with subsection 300(9) of the Corporations Act 2001, further details have not been 
disclosed due to confidentiality provisions of the insurance contracts. 
 
16.  Lead Auditor's Independence Declaration under Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 
 
The lead auditor's independence declaration is set out on page 15 and forms part of the directors' report for the financial year ended 30 
June 2013.  
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17.     Rounding off 
 
The Group is of a kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/100 dated 10 July 1998 and in accordance with that Class Order, amounts in the 
consolidated financial statements and directors’ report have been rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise stated. 
 
Dated at Perth, Western Australia this 24th day of September 2013. 
 
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors. 
 
 

 
Gerard McMahon 
Non-Executive Chairman 
Perth, Western Australia 
24 September 2013 
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Tanami Gold NL Corporate Governance Statement 
 
The Board of Directors (‘Board’) of Tanami Gold NL (‘Tanami’ or the ‘Company’) is responsible for the corporate governance of the 
Company. The Board guides and monitors the business activities and affairs of the Company on behalf of its shareholders by whom they 
are elected and to whom they are accountable. To ensure that the Board is well equipped to discharge its responsibilities, the Company has 
adopted systems of control and accountability as the basis for the administration of corporate governance.  
 
The Board is committed to administering its policies and procedures transparently, with integrity and following best practice principles. The 
Company’s Corporate Governance Statement has been structured to promote compliance with the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s 
Principles of Good Corporate Governance and Best Practice Recommendations (‘Principles’).  
 
The Company’s corporate governance Policies and Charters are available in the Corporate Governance section of the Company’s website 
at www.tanami.com.au.  
 
This Corporate Governance Statement summarises the Company’s compliance with the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s Principles as 
at the date of this report.  
 
Principle 1:  Lay Solid Foundations for Management and Oversight 
 
The Company complies with this Principle. 
 
Recommendation 1.1: Establish the functions reserved to the Board 
 
The Company has adopted a Statement of Matters Reserved to the Board, a copy of which is available in the Corporate Governance 
section of the Company’s website at www.tanami.com.au.  In carrying out its responsibilities the Board: 
 

 Recognises that its primary responsibility is to develop and oversee the  business activities, corporate strategy  and management 
of the Company for the benefit of its shareholders; 

 
 Acknowledges its responsibilities to the Company’s employees, the environment and the communities in which the Company 

operates and where appropriate, other stakeholders; and  
 

 Strives to create shareholder value and ensure that shareholders' funds are prudently safeguarded.  
 
To assist the Board in discharging its duties properly, it has established the following committees to assist in the proper discharge of its 
duties:  
 

 Remuneration and Nomination Committee whose responsibilities include the identification of candidates considered suitable to act 
as Directors; 

 
 Audit Committee whose responsibilities include reviewing and ensuring the quality and integrity of financial reporting; 

 
 Systems of internal control which management and the Board have established in order to safeguard the Company’s financial 

assets and facilitate compliance with relevant statutory and regulatory requirements; 
 

 Processes for financial and business risk identification, quantification and mitigation; 
 

 Effectiveness and independence of the external audit process; and  
 

 Quality and relevance of financial information provided to management and the Board on which decisions will be based. 
 
The Board takes an active and involved approach to the operation of the Company.  Day to day operations are delegated by the Board to 
senior executives and personnel within the Company. The responsibility for the administration of the Company is delegated by the Board to 
the Company Secretary. The Board is responsible for appointing personnel at the most senior levels and ensuring all senior management 
personnel together with the Company Secretary and Financial Controller are appropriately qualified and experienced to discharge their 
responsibilities. 
 
Recommendation 1.2: Evaluation of the Performance of Senior Executives  
 
A formal performance review is undertaken with each of the Company’s senior executives on an annual basis to review their performance 
over the preceding 12 month period and to set an action plan with specific outcomes and targets for the following 12 months.  
 
This process took place during the year ended 30 June 2013. 
 
Principle 2: Structure the Board to Add Value 
 
The Company complies with this recommendation.  
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Recommendation 2.1, 2.2 and 2.3: Composition of the Board 
 
The Company’s Board comprises the following Directors: 
 

Director Position Classification 
Mr G McMahon Non-Executive Chairman Independent 
Mr A Dew Non-Executive Director Not Independent 
Mr SH Lee Non-Executive Director Not Independent 
Mr C Procter Non-Executive Director Independent 
Mr B Montgomery Non-Executive Director Independent 

 
Mr Procter is an Independent Non-Executive Director of Sun Hung Kai & Co Limited and Allied Overseas Limited both of which are 
subsidiaries of Allied Group Limited of which another subsidiary (Allied Properties Resources Limited) is the major shareholder of the 
Company. 
 
Mr Procter has confirmed to the Board that he is able to act independently and on the basis of that assurance and the fact that his aforesaid 
directorships are only as an Independent Non-Executive Director of other Allied Group Limited subsidiaries, the Board considered Mr 
Procter to be independent at the time of his appointment and the announcement of same and continues to consider him independent.  
 
The Company’s Board composition does comply with Recommendation 2.1 or 2.2 of Principle 2 as the majority of the Company’s Board are 
independent and the Chairman of the Board is independent.  The Board considers that the Company’s Directors are appropriately qualified 
and have the skills and experience necessary to properly execute their duties.  The skills and experience of each of the Company’s 
Directors has been documented on page 3 of this report. 
 
In determining whether or not a Director is independent, the Company makes reference to the independence indicators contained within Box 
2.1 of Principle 2.  The membership of the Board and its composition is subject to periodic review. 
 
In accordance with the Company’s Constitution, the tenure of a Director (other than the Managing Director/CEO (or equivalent) is subject to 
reappointment by shareholders not later than the third anniversary following his or her last appointment.  
 
Subject to the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001, and the ASX Listing Rules, the Board does not subscribe to the principle of a set 
retirement age, and there is no maximum period of service as a Director.  
 
The Directors are required to take into consideration any potential conflicts of interest when accepting appointments to other Boards. 
 
A procedure exists to allow Directors, in the furtherance of their duties, to seek independent professional advice at the Company’s expense.  
Independent professional advice may be sought by a Director generally; however the Managing Director/CEO (or equivalent) must be 
notified before advice is sought.  The advice must only be sought in relation to the discharge of the Director’s responsibilities to the 
Company.  The Company will reimburse reasonable expenses where the above principles have been followed. 
 
Recommendation 2.4: Nomination Committee 
 
The Board has established a Nomination Committee (referred to as the Remuneration and Nomination Committee) which is responsible for, 
amongst other things, identifying individuals with the requisite skill set, experience and professional expertise from which the Company 
could benefit.  
 
At the date of this report, the members of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee are Mr B Montgomery (Chairman), Mr GJ McMahon 
and Mr CC Procter. The composition of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee does comply with Recommendation 2.4 of Principle 2 
as it does comprise of a majority of independent Directors.   
 
The Board considers that the current composition of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee is appropriate given the size of the entity 
and the skills and experience of the committee members. Details of the relevant qualifications and experience of Mr B Montgomery, Mr GJ 
McMahon and Mr CC Procter are set out in page 3 of this report. 
  
The Remuneration and Nomination Committee has a formal charter, a copy of which can be found in the Corporate Governance section of 
the Company’s website at www.tanami.com.au.  
 
Recommendation 2.5: Evaluation of the Performance of the Board  
 
The Chairman meets with each Director to assess and review their performance on an annual basis. In the event a Director’s performance 
is unsatisfactory he or she will be asked to retire.  
 
Principle 3: Promote Ethical and Responsible Decision Making 
 
The Company complies with this recommendation except for the Diversity recommendations as indicated below. 
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Recommendation 3.1: Code of Conduct 
 
The Board actively promotes ethical and responsible decision making and has established a: 
 

 Code Of Conduct for the Company; 
 

 Directors and Executives Code of Conduct; 
 

 Policy for Reporting and Investigating Unethical Practices; and 
 

 Whistle-blowers’ Policy. 
 
The Board maintains high standards of ethical and responsible decision making, recognising the legitimate interests of the Company’s 
shareholders, employees, the environment and the communities in which the Company operates and the responsibilities it has to regulatory 
authorities. 
 
Recommendation 3.2, 3.3, and 3.4: Diversity 
 
The Company is fully supportive of workplace diversity.  Whilst it was working towards the introduction of a formal diversity policy, given the 
current size of the Company it is not logistically appropriate.  As it does not yet have a formal diversity policy in place, the Company does 
not comply with Recommendation 3.2 of Principle 3.  Despite this, the Company always actively seeks the best candidate for its available 
positions regardless of gender, race, age, or cultural heritage. 
 
The Company employs the following number of women in the following categories within its workforce: 
  

Category Number Percentage 
Women employees in the Company 7 16% 
Women in senior executive positions in the Company 1 33% 
Women on the Board of the Company - 0% 

 
Principle 4: Safeguard Integrity in Financial Reporting 
 
The Company complies with this recommendation except as indicated below. 
 
Recommendation 4.1, 4.2 and 4.3: Audit Committee 
 
The Board has established an Audit Committee comprising Mr CC Procter (Chairman), Mr GJ McMahon and Mr B Montgomery.  The 
structure of the Company’s Audit Committee means that it complies with Recommendation 4.2 of Principle 4 which recommends that the 
Audit Committee comprise only Non-Executive Directors, the majority of whom should be independent.  
 
The Board considers that the current composition of the Audit Committee is appropriate given the size of the entity and the skills and 
experience of the committee members. Details of the relevant qualifications and experience of each of the members of the Audit Committee 
are set out in page 3 of this report. 
 
The Audit Committee has a formal charter that is available in the Corporate Governance section of the Company’s website at 
www.tanami.com.au.  
 
The Audit Committee is responsible for making a recommendation regarding the appointment of the external auditor to the Board (for 
subsequent approval by shareholders).The performance of the external auditor is assessed annually.  Rotation of the external audit 
engagement partner is undertaken in line with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and is managed by the external auditor. 
 
Principle 5: Make Timely and Balanced Disclosure 
 
The Company complies with this recommendation. 
 
The Board has nominated its Company Secretary to be the person responsible for: 
 

 Ensuring the Company’s compliance with the ASX Listing Rules; and 
 

 Overseeing and coordinating disclosure of information to the ASX, as well as communicating with the ASX. 
 
In accordance with the ASX Listing Rules, the Company Secretary will ensure that the Company notifies the ASX immediately with regards 
to: 
 

 All information concerning the Company that could reasonably be expected to have a material effect on the price or value of the 
Company’s securities; and 
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 All information that would, or would be likely to, influence people who commonly invest in securities in deciding whether to acquire 

or dispose of the Company’s securities. 
 
Recommendation 5.1 Disclosure  
 
The Board has a Disclosure Policy and the purpose of this policy is to ensure that the Company achieves best practice in complying with its 
continuous disclosure obligations under the Corporations Act and the ASX Listing Rules. 
 
The Company is committed to ensuring that all announcements are made in a timely manner, are factual, do not omit material information 
and are expressed in a clear and objective manner. 
 
The Board has introduced a Securities Trading Policy that deals with the sale and purchase of securities in the Company by its Key 
Management Personnel.  Key Management Personnel for the purposes of this policy have been defined as Directors and those employees 
that report directly to the Company’s Managing Director/CEO (or equivalent). 
 
The Company’s Securities Trading Policy is primarily designed to prevent any contravention of the insider trading provisions of the 
Corporations Act by the Company’s Key Management Personnel.  
  
The Company’s Key Management Personnel are required to seek authorisation from the Chairman (in the case of Directors), or another 
Non-Executive Director (in the case of the Chairman) or the Managing Director/CEO (or equivalent) or Company Secretary (in the case of 
employees) prior to undertaking any transaction in the Company’s securities.  
 
As required by the ASX Listing Rules, the Company will notify the ASX of all transactions in securities of the Company conducted by a 
Director of the Company.  Each Director of the Company has signed an agreement to provide information to the Company regarding any 
change in their shareholding in the Company as soon as possible after the date of change and in any event, no later than three business 
days after the date of the change. 
 
The Company’s Disclosure Policy and the Company’s Securities Trading Policy can be found in the Corporate Governance section of the 
Company’s website at www.tanami.com.au.  
 
Principle 6: Respect the Rights of Shareholders 
 
The Company complies with this recommendation. 
 
The Company is committed (subject to commercial and confidentiality constraints) to maintaining direct, open and timely communications 
with all shareholders and prospective shareholders.  
  
At a minimum, shareholders and prospective shareholders have access via the Company’s website to the following information:  
 

 ASX Announcements;  
 

 Annual Financial Report;  
 

 Annual Report;  
 

 Notice of Meeting for the Annual General Meeting (AGM) and all accompanying papers;  
 

 Report of the Chairman as disclosed at the AGM (ordinarily the same day as the AGM);  
 

 Interim/half yearly Report; and  
 

 Quarterly Reports.  
 
The Company has a Shareholder Communication Policy a copy of which is available in the Corporate Governance section of the Company’s 
website at www.tanami.com.au. 
 
Principle 7: Recognise and Manage Risk 
 
The Company complies with this recommendation.  
 
The Board’s Audit Committee assists the Board by reviewing the: 
 

 Quality and Integrity of financial reporting; 
 

 Systems of internal control which management and the Board have established in order to safeguard the Company’s financial 
assets and facilitate compliance with relevant statutory and regulatory requirements; 
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 Processes for financial and business risk identification, quantification and mitigation; 

 
 Effectiveness and independence of external audit process; and 

 
 Quality and relevance of financial information provided to management and the Board on which decisions will be based. 

 
Principle 8: Remunerate Fairly and Responsibly 
 
The Company complies with this recommendation except as documented below. 
 
Recommendation 8.1: Remuneration and Nomination Committee 
 
The Board established a Remuneration and Nomination Committee on 1 July 2005.  The Remuneration and Nomination Committee was 
established to determine appropriate levels of remuneration for Executive and Non-Executive Directors, to review the various skills and 
experience on the Board, identify specific individuals for nomination as directors and overseeing Board and executive succession planning.  
 
The Remuneration and Nomination Committee Charter is available in the governance section of the Company’s website at 
www.tanami.com.au. 
 
Recommendation 8.2: Composition of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee 
 
The Company’s Remuneration and Nomination Committee comprises Mr Brett Montgomery (Chairman), Mr Gerard McMahon and Mr 
Carlisle Procter. This composition does comply with Principle 8.2 as the majority of the Company’s Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee are independent. The members of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee are appropriately qualified and have the skills 
and experience necessary to properly execute their duties.  The skills and experience of Mr B Montgomery, Mr G McMahon and Mr C 
Procter are documented on page 3 of this report. 
 
Recommendation 8.3: Distinction between Non-Executive Directors’ Remuneration and Remuneration of Executive Directors and 
Senior Executives 
 
Fees for Non-Executive Directors are not linked to the performance of the Company. However, to align Non-Executive Directors’ interests 
with shareholder interests, Non-Executive Directors are encouraged to hold shares in the Company that have been purchased on-market 
(subject to the provisions of the Tanami Gold NL Securities Trading Policy). 
 
Generally, Non-Executive Directors should not: 
 

 Receive options or cash bonuses from the Company. However, the Board has the discretion to determine (where shareholder 
approval is obtained) that Non-Executive Directors be granted incentive shares and/or options; and 

 
 Be provided with retirement benefits other than superannuation.  

 
Compensation levels for senior executives of the Company are competitively set to attract and retain appropriately qualified and 
experienced executives.   
 
Compensation levels are designed to attract suitably qualified candidates, reward the achievement of strategic objectives, and to achieve 
the broader outcome of creation of value for shareholders.  Compensation packages include a mix of fixed compensation and equity-based 
compensation as well as employer contributions to superannuation funds. 
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2013 2012

Note $'000 $'000

Revenue from operating activities 3 51,469 65,343

Mine costs (including depreciation, amortisation and impairment) 4 (83,733) (74,503)

Profit on sale of assets 1,320 -

Other income 3 366 14,497

Exploration and evaluation expenses 14 (18,124) (69)

Corporate and other expenses (10,467) (6,885)

Results from operating activities (59,169) (1,617)

Financial income 6 533 3,623

Financial expenses 6 (7,672) (8,463)

Net finance expense (7,139) (4,840)

Share of loss of equity accounted investees (net of income tax) - (331)
Gain on dilution of shareholding in equity accounted investees (net of 
income tax) - 2,484

Loss before income tax (66,308) (4,304)

Income tax expense 7 - -

Loss from operations (66,308) (4,304)

Loss for the year (66,308) (4,304)

Other comprehensive loss

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Share of other comprehensive income of equity accounted investees - (22)

Other comprehensive loss for the year (net of income tax) - (22)
Total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to owners of 
the Company (66,308) (4,326)

Earnings per share

Basic loss per share 25 (0.179) (0.016)

Diluted loss per share 25 (0.179) (0.016)

Consolidated

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income is to be read in conjunction with 
the accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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2013 2012
Assets Note $'000 $'000
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 9 1,623 2,815

Other receivables 10 609 1,814

Available for sale financial assets 11 1,881 6,084

Inventories 12 2,484 8,713

Total current assets 6,597 19,426

Non-current assets

Other receivables 10 5,519 5,396

Property, plant and equipment 13 8,579 30,275

Exploration and evaluation 14 74,043 72,318

Total non-current assets 88,141 107,989

Total assets 94,738 127,415

         

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Interest-bearing liabilities 15 9,625 599

Trade and other payables 16 2,879 12,987

Provisions 17 936 1,408

Total current liabilities 13,440 14,994

Non-current liabilities

Interest-bearing liabilities 15 319 28,421

Provisions 17 5,312 5,192

Total non-current liabilities 5,631 33,613

Total liabilities 19,071 48,607

Net assets 75,667 78,808

Equity

Issued capital 18 306,661 244,189

Accumulated losses 19 (232,848) (166,540)

Reserves 1,854 1,159

Total equity attributable to equity holders of the Company 75,667 78,808

Consolidated

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The consolidated statement of financial position is to be read in conjunction with  
the accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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Issued Capital Accumulated 
Losses

Share Based 
Payment 
Reserve

Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Consolidated
Balance at 1 July 2011 244,794 (162,214) 477 83,057
Total comprehensive loss for the year -
Loss for the year (4,304) (4,304)
Other comprehensive loss (22) (22)
Total comprehensive loss for the year - (4,326) - (4,326)

Transactions with owners, recorded direct to equity
Contributions by and distributions to owners
Share based payments transactions - 682 682
Limited recourse loans (605) (605)
Total contributions by and distributions to owners (605) - 682 77
Balance at 30 June 2012 244,189 (166,540) 1,159 78,808

Consolidated
Balance at 1 July 2012 244,189 (166,540) 1,159 78,808
Total comprehensive income for the year -
Loss for the year - (66,308) - (66,308)
Total comprehensive loss for the year - (66,308) - (66,308)

Transactions with owners, recorded direct to equity
Contributions by and distributions to owners
Share based payments transactions - - 695 695
Limited recourse loans 466 - - 466
Total contributions by and distributions to owners 466 - 695 1,161
Shares issued during the year, net of issue costs 62,006 - - 62,006
Total transaction with owners 62,472 - 695 63,167
Balance at 30 June 2013 306,661 (232,848) 1,854 75,667

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The consolidated statement of changes in equity is to be read in conjunction with 
the accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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2013 2012

$'000 $'000

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash receipts from customers 51,835 66,610

Cash payments in the course of operations (56,315) (58,004)

Cash payments for withholding tax (195) (168)

Interest received 196 334

Interest paid (1,883) (1,672)

Net cash (used)/provided by operating activities 26(b) (6,362) 7,100

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for property, plant and equipment (3,829) (4,898)

Proceeds from sale of financial assets 4,425 32,395

Proceeds from security deposit refunds (130) -

Payments for exploration security deposits 177 (28)

Payments for the purchases of equity investments - (4,500)

Payments for exploration and evaluation (20,227) (20,832)

Payments for development expenditure (18,790) (16,880)

Net cash used in investing activities (38,374) (14,743)

Cash flows from financing activities

Net proceeds from issue of shares and options 46,661 -

Net proceeds from borrowings 39,460 26,688

Net proceeds from repayment of limited recourse loans 310 -

Repayment of borrowings (42,189) (22,662)

Repayment of finance lease liabilities (698) (317)

Net cash provided from financing activities 43,544 3,709

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents held (1,192) (3,934)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the financial year 2,815 6,749

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 26(a) 1,623 2,815

Consolidated

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The consolidated statement of cash flows is to be read in conjunction with 
the accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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1. Significant Accounting Policies 

 
(a) Reporting Entity 
 
Tanami Gold NL ("the Company”) is a company domiciled in Australia.   The address of the Company’s registered office is Level 2, 56 Ord Street, 
West Perth, Western Australia 6005. The consolidated financial statements of the Company as at and for the year ended 30 June 2013 comprise 
the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Consolidated Entity”) and the Consolidated Entity’s interest in associates. The 
Consolidated Entity is a for profit entity and is primarily involved in gold mining operations and mineral exploration. 

 
(b) Basis of Preparation 

 
Statement of Compliance 
 
The consolidated financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards (AASBs) adopted by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and the Corporations Act 2001. The consolidated 
financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB). 
 
The consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 20 September 2013. 
 
Basis of Measurement 
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following: 
 Available for sale financial assets are measured at fair value. 

 
Going Concern Basis of Preparation 
 
The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which contemplates the continuity of normal business activity and the 
realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities in the normal course of business. 

The Consolidated Entity has generated a total comprehensive loss for the year ended 30 June 2013 of $66,308,282 (2012: Loss $4,326,014).  At 30 
June 2013, it had a net working capital deficit of $6,842,481 (2012: Surplus $4,432,046). 
 
At 30 June 2013, the Company had drawn down a total of A$9.0 million under its existing A$15.0 million loan facility with Sun Hung Kai International 
Bank (Brunei) Limited (‘SHKIBBL’); an entity associated with Mr Lee Seng Hui who is a Director of the Company.  The A$15.0 million loan facility 
with SHKIBBL is classified as a current liability at 30 June 2013.  On 24 September 2013, the Company signed a Supplementary Loan Agreement 
with SHKIBBL extending the loan facility repayment date out to 31 March 2015 (all terms and conditions are consistent with the original agreement).       

The Company has obtained a letter of support from AP Finance Limited (of which the ultimate holding company is Allied Group Limited an entity 
associated with Mr Lee Seng Hui).  The letter of support confirms AP Finance Limited’s commitment and ongoing support to the Company via the 
provision of a legally binding unsecured loan facility of approximately A$12 million.  The Company’s cashflow forecast shows the Company will be 
able to fund its Kavanagh drilling and ongoing care and maintenance program to at least 12 months from the signing date of this report given the 
expected proceeds of debt funding from AP Finance Limited.   

The terms attached to the provision of the AP Finance Limited unsecured loan facility are: 

 An interest of 6% payable quarterly in arrears; 
 A non-refundable facility fee for each month applicable to each advance at the rate of 3% per annum of that advance and a further 

refundable facility fee for each month applicable to each advance at the rate of 3% per annum of that advance, both payable monthly in 
advance (the latter fee is refundable in respect of any prepaid or repaid principal indebtedness for any days remaining in the month in 
which the principal indebtedness is repaid in part or whole); and 

 Repayment date of the unsecured loan facility will be 31 March 2015.  

The Company may also be required to source additional cash from debt or equity markets or from the sale of other assets.  The Company has 
demonstrated historically that it can raise funds through both debt and equity avenues and can repay its debts as and when they fall due. 

Given the above and based upon the ongoing support from the Company’s largest shareholder, the Directors consider that there are reasonable 
grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable and the Directors are confident that 
the going concern basis of preparation remains appropriate. 
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

 
(b)  Basis of Preparation (continued) 
 
Functional and Presentation Currency 
 
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency.  
 
Use of estimates and judgements  
 
The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the 
application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these 
estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the 
period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected. 
 
Judgements made by management in the application of the Australian Accounting Standards that have significant effect on the financial report and 
estimates with a significant risk of material adjustment in the next year are discussed below. 
 
Accounting estimates and judgements 
 
Management discussed with the Audit Committee the development, selection and disclosure of the Consolidated Entity's critical accounting policies 
and estimates and the application of these policies, estimates and judgements.  The estimates and judgements that may have a significant impact 
on the carrying amount of assets and liabilities are discussed below: 
 
(i) Mine rehabilitation and site restoration provision 
 
The Consolidated Entity assesses its mine rehabilitation and site restoration provision at each balance date in accordance with accounting policy 
note 1(j).  Significant judgement is required in determining the provision for mine rehabilitation and site restoration as there are many transactions 
and other factors that will affect the ultimate liability payable to rehabilitate and restore the mine sites and related assets.  Factors that will affect this 
liability include future development, changes in technology, price increases and changes in interest rates.  When these factors change or become 
known in the future, such differences will impact the site restoration provision and asset in the period in which they change or become known. 
 
(ii) Units of production method of amortisation 
 
The Consolidated Entity amortises mine properties in production on a units of production basis over economically recoverable reserves and 
resources.  These calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions.  Significant judgement is required in assessing the available reserves 
and resources under this method.  Factors that must be considered in determining reserves and resources are the complexity of metallurgy, product 
prices, foreign exchange rates, cost structures and future developments.  When these factors change or become known in the future, such 
differences will impact amortisation expense and the carrying value of mine property assets. 
 
(iii)  Determination of ore reserves and mineral resource 
 
The Consolidated Entity estimates its ore reserves and mineral resources based on information compiled by competent persons in accordance with 
the Australian Code for Reporting of Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves December 2004 (the JORC code). Reserves and where applicable 
resources determined in this way are used in the calculation of amortisation and impairment charges, the assessment of mine lives and for 
forecasting the timing of the payment of restoration costs. 
 
When a change in estimated recoverable gold ounces contained in proved and probable ore reserves, and where applicable, resources, is made, 
amortisation and depreciation is accounted for prospectively. 
 
(iv)  Impairment 
 
In accordance with accounting policy note 1(i), the Consolidated Entity, in determining whether the recoverable amount of its cash generating unit is 
the higher of fair value less costs to sell or value-in-use against which asset impairment is to be considered, undertakes future cash flow 
calculations which are based on a number of critical estimates and assumptions including, for its mine properties, forward estimates of: 
 

 mine life, including quantities of mineral reserves and resources for which there is a high degree of confidence of economic extraction 
with given technology; 

 production levels and demand; 
 metal price; 
 inflation; 
 cash costs of production; and 
 discount rates applicable to the cash generating unit. 
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
(b) Basis of Preparation (continued) 
 
(v)  Impairment of exploration and evaluation of assets, investment in subsidiary and loans to subsidiary 
 
The ultimate recoupment of the value of exploration and evaluation assets, the Company’s investment in its subsidiaries and loans to its 
subsidiaries is dependent on successful development and commercial exploitation, or alternatively, sale, of the underlying mineral exploration 
properties. The Consolidated Entity undertakes at least on an annual basis, a comprehensive review of indicators of impairment of these assets. 
There is significant estimation and judgement in determining the inputs and assumptions used in determining the recoverable amounts where there 
are impairment indicators. 
 
The key areas of estimation and judgement that are considered in this review include: 

 recent drilling results and reserves and resource estimates; 
 environmental issues that may impact that underlying tenements; 
 the estimated market value of assets at the review date; 
 independent valuation of underlying assets that may be available; 
 fundamental economic factors such as the gold price, exchange rates and current and anticipated operating costs in the industry; and 
 the Consolidated Entity’s market capitalisation compared to its net assets. 

 
Information used in the review process is tested against externally available information as appropriate. 
 
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated financial statements, except as 
explained in note 1(c). 
 
(c) Changes in Accounting Policies 
 
There were no changes to accounting policies in the current financial year. 
 
(d) Removal of Parent Entity Financial Statements 
 
The Consolidated Entity has applied amendments to the Corporations Act (2001) that remove the requirement for the Consolidated Entity to lodge 
parent entity financial statements. Parent entity financial statements have been replaced by the specific parent entity disclosure in note 30. 
 
(e) Basis of Consolidation 
 
(i)   Subsidiaries 
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company.  Control exists when the Company has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern the financial 
and operating policies of a Company so as to obtain benefits from its activities.  In assessing control, potential voting rights that presently are 
exercisable or convertible are taken into account.  The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements 
from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where 
necessary to align them with the policies adopted by the Consolidated Entity. 
 
(ii)   Transactions eliminated on consolidation 
Intra-group balances, and any unrealised gains and losses or income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated in 
preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity accounted investees are eliminated against 
the investment to the extent of the Consolidated Entity’s interest in the investee. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised 
gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment. 
 
Gains and losses are recognised when the contributed assets are consumed or sold by the equity accounted investees or, if not consumed or sold 
by the equity accounted investee, when the Consolidated Entity’s interest in such entities is disposed of.  
 
(iii) Jointly controlled operations and assets 
The interest of the Consolidated Entity in unincorporated joint ventures and jointly controlled assets are brought to account by recognising in its 
financial statements the assets it controls, the liabilities that it incurs, the expenses it incurs and its share of income that it earns from the sale of 
goods or services by the joint venture.    
 
(iv) Loss of control 
Upon the loss of control, the Consolidated Entity derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, any non-controlling interests and the other 
components of the equity related to the subsidiary. Any surplus or deficit arising on the loss of control is recognised in profit or loss. If the 
Consolidated Entity retains any interest in the previous subsidiary, then such interest is measured at fair value at the date that control is lost. 
Subsequently it is accounted for as an equity-accounted investee or as an available-for-sale financial asset depending on the level of influence 
retained. 
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1.  Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
(f) Property, Plant and Equipment 
 
Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.  
 
All such assets, except freehold land, are depreciated over their estimated useful lives on a straight line, reducing balance or production output 
basis, as considered appropriate, commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use.  
 
Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.   
 
Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds from disposal with the 
carrying amount of property, plant and equipment and are recognised net within “other income” in profit or loss.   
 
The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future 
economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Consolidated Entity and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the 
replaced part is derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.  
 
Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of an item of property, plant and 
equipment.  
 
The estimated depreciation rates for the current and comparative periods are as follows: 
 

Major depreciation periods are: 2013 2012 
Buildings 2.5% 2.5% 
Plant and equipment 15–33% 15–33% 
Motor vehicles 13-33% 13-25% 
Furniture and fittings 7.5-40% 7.5-40% 
Mine development costs Units of production Units of production 
Rehabilitation asset Over life of mine Over life of mine 

 
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate. 
 
(i)  Useful lives 
Mine development costs are depreciated or amortised over the lower of their estimated useful lives and the estimated remaining life of the mine.  
The estimated remaining life of the mine is based upon geological resources.  Assets not linked to the mining operation are depreciated over their 
estimated useful lives. 
 
(ii) Amortisation 
Amortisation is charged to the income statement, except to the extent that it is included in the carrying amount of another asset as an allocation of 
production overheads. 
 
Mine development costs are amortised on a units of production basis over economically recoverable resources.  The rehabilitation asset is 
amortised on a straight line basis over the life of the mine. 
 
Amortisation is not charged on costs carried forward in respect of interest in the development phase until commercial production commences. 
 
Mining properties in production (including exploration, evaluation and development expenditure) are accumulated and brought to account at cost 
less accumulated amortisation in respect of each identifiable area of interest.  Amortisation of capitalised costs is provided on the production output 
basis, proportional to the depletion of the mineral resource of each area of interest expected to be ultimately economically recoverable. 
 
(g) Exploration and Evaluation 
 
In accordance with AASB 6 Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources, exploration costs are accumulated in respect of each separate 
area of interest.   
 
Costs incurred before the Consolidated Entity has obtained the legal rights to explore an area are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 
 
Exploration costs are carried forward at cost where the rights of tenure are current and either: 
 
(i) Such costs are expected to be recouped through successful development and exploration of the area of interest, or alternatively by its sale; or 
 
(ii) Exploration activities in the area have not yet reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of 

economically recoverable resources and active and significant operations in, or in relation to, the area of interest are continuing. 
 
Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed annually for impairment if (i) sufficient data exists to determine technical feasibility and commercial 
viability, or (ii) facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable value. Where impairment indicators exist, 
recoverable amounts of these assets will be estimated based on discounted cash flows from their associated cash generating units. Expenses 
arising from the excess of the carrying values of exploration and evaluation assets over the recoverable amounts of the assets are recognised in 
profit or loss. 
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
(g)     Exploration and Evaluation (continued) 
 
In the event that an area of interest is abandoned or if the Directors consider the expenditure to be of reduced value, accumulated costs carried 
forward are written off in the period in which that assessment is made.  Each area of interest is reviewed at the end of each accounting period and 
accumulated costs are written off to the extent that they will not be recoverable in the future. 
 
Once the technical feasibility and commercial viability of the extraction of mineral resources in an area of interest are demonstrable, exploration and 
evaluation assets attributable to that area of interest are first tested for impairment and then reclassified from intangible assets to mine development 
costs within property, plant and equipment. 
 
(h) Acquisition of Assets 
 
Assets acquired are recognised at cost.  Cost is measured as the fair value of the assets given up, shares issued or liabilities undertaken at the 
date of acquisition plus incidental costs directly attributable to the acquisition.  When equity instruments are issued as consideration, their market 
price at the date of acquisition is used as fair value.   Transaction costs arising on the issue of equity instruments are recognised directly in equity. 
 
Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable are recorded at their present value, discounted at the rate 
applicable to the Company if a similar borrowing were obtained from an independent financier under comparable terms and conditions. 
 
Costs incurred on assets subsequent to initial acquisition are capitalised when it is probable that future economic benefits in excess of the original 
performance of the asset will flow to the Company in future years.  Costs that do not meet the criteria for capitalisation are expensed as incurred. 
 
(i) Impairment 
 
The carrying amounts of the Consolidated Entity’s assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date to 
determine whether there is any indication of impairment.  If any such indication exists then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 
 
An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount.  
Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.  A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable asset group that generates cash flows that are 
largely independent from other assets and groups. Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce 
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the units and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit (group of units) on a 
pro rata basis. 
 
The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value 
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments 
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 
 
Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer 
exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is 
reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. 
 
(j) Provision  
 
A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Consolidated Entity has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be measured 
reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the 
expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. 
 
A provision is made for the estimated cost of rehabilitation relating to areas disturbed during the mine's operation up to reporting date but not yet 
rehabilitated.  Provision has been made in full for all disturbed areas at the reporting date based on current estimates of costs to rehabilitate such 
areas, discounted to their present value based on expected future cash flows.  The estimated cost of rehabilitation includes the current cost of 
recontouring, topsoiling and revegetation, employing legislative requirements.  Changes in estimates are dealt with on a prospective basis as they 
arise. 
 
Uncertainty exists as to the amount of rehabilitation obligations which will be incurred due to the impact of changes in environmental legislation.  
The amount of the provision relating to rehabilitation of mine infrastructure and dismantling obligations is recognised at the commencement of the 
mining project and/or construction of the assets where a legal or constructive obligation exists at that time.  The provision is recognised as a non-
current liability with a corresponding asset included in property, plant and equipment. 
 
At each reporting date the rehabilitation liability is re-measured in line with changes in discount rates and timing or amount of costs to be incurred.  
Changes in the liability relating to rehabilitation of mine infrastructure and dismantling obligations are added to or deducted from the related asset, 
other than the unwinding of the discount which is recognised as finance costs in profit or loss as it occurs. 
 
If the change in liability results in a decrease in the liability that exceeds the carrying amount of the asset, the asset is written-down to nil and the 
excess is recognised immediately in the income statement.  If the change in the liability results in an addition to the cost of the asset, the 
recoverability of the new carrying amount is considered.  Where there is an indication that the new carrying amount is not fully recoverable, an 
impairment test is performed with the write-down recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it occurs. 
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(k) Expenses 

 
(i) Operating lease payments 
Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.  Lease incentives 
received are recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the total lease expense and spread over the lease term. 
 
(ii) Net financing costs 
Net financing costs comprise interest payable on borrowings calculated using the effective interest method, finance establishment costs, discount 
unwind on the restoration and rehabilitation provision, interest receivable on funds invested, foreign exchange gains and losses, gains and losses 
on sale of financial assets, and gains and losses on hedging instruments that are recognised in the income statement. 
 
Interest income is recognised in the income statement as it accrues, using the effective interest method.  The interest expense component of 
finance lease payments is recognised in the income statement using the effective interest method. 
 
(l) Inventories 
 
Raw materials and stores, work in progress (stockpiles and gold in circuit) and finished goods (bullion) are stated at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed overhead expenditure, the latter 
being allocated on the basis of normal operating capacity. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less 
the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. 
 
Costs are assigned to individual items of inventory on the basis of weighted average costs. Cost includes direct material, overburden removal, 
mining, processing, labour related transportation cost to the point of sale, mine rehabilitation costs incurred in the extraction process and other fixed 
and variable costs directly related to mining activities. 
 
(m) Investments 
 
All investments are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration given and acquisition charges associated with the 
investment. 
 
After initial recognition, investments, which are classified as held for trading and available-for-sale, are measured at fair value.  Gains or losses on 
investments held for trading are recognised in the income statement. 
 
Gains or losses on available-for-sale investments are recognised as a separate component of equity until the investment is sold, collected or 
otherwise disposed of, or until the investment is determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in equity is 
included in the income statement. 
 
Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity are classified as held-to-maturity when the Consolidated 
Entity has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity.  Investments intended to be held for an undefined period are not included in this 
classification. 
 
Other long-term investments that are intended to be held-to-maturity, such as bonds, are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. 
 
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition, over the period to maturity. 
 
For investments carried at amortised cost, gains and losses are recognised in income when the investments are derecognised or impaired, as well 
as through the amortisation process. 
 
For investments that are actively traded in organised financial markets, fair value is determined by reference to ASX quoted market bid prices at the 
close of business on the balance sheet date. 
 
For investments where there is not a quoted market price, fair value is determined by reference to the current market value of another instrument 
which is substantially the same or is calculated based on the expected cash flows of the underlying net asset base of the investment. 
 
(n) Other Receivables 
 
Other receivables are initially recorded at the amount of proceeds due and are subsequently measured at amortised cost.   
 
(o) Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
Cash and short-term deposits in the balance sheet comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-term deposits with an original maturity of three 
months or less.  
 
For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding 
bank overdrafts. 
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(p) Available for Sale Financial Assets 
 
Available for sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available for sale or are not classified in any of the 
above categories of financial assets.  Available for sale financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction 
costs. 
 
Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at fair value and changes therein, other than impairment losses (see note i) are recognised in 
other comprehensive income and presented in the fair value reserve in equity.  When an investment is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss in 
equity is reclassified to profit or loss. 
 
Available for sale financial assets comprise equity securities. 
 
(q) Interest-Bearing Liabilities 
 
All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration received net of issue costs associated with the 
borrowing. 
 
After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.  
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any issue costs, and any discounts or premium on settlement. 
 
Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the liabilities are derecognised and as well as through the amortisation process. 
 
(r) Employee Benefits 
 
Short-term benefits  
Liabilities for employee benefits for wages, salaries and annual leave represent present obligations resulting from employees’ services provided to 
reporting date and are calculated at undiscounted amounts based on remuneration wage and salary rates that the Consolidated Entity expects to 
pay as at reporting date including related on-costs, such as workers compensation insurance and payroll tax.  
 
No provision is made for non-vesting sick leave as the anticipated pattern of future sick leave taken indicates that accumulated non-vesting leave 
will never be paid. 
 
Other long-term benefits 
The Consolidated Entity’s net obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits is the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in 
return for their service in the current and prior periods plus related on-costs. Provision for long service leave together with the associated 
employment on-costs are measured at their nominal amounts based on remuneration rates expected to be paid when the liability is settled.  The 
non-current portions of long service leave and its associated employment on-costs are measured at the present value of estimated future cash 
flows.   
 
Defined contribution plans 
A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a separate entity and will have no 
legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are recognised as a personnel 
expense in profit or loss when they are due. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in 
future payments is available.  
 
Contributions to defined contribution superannuation plans are expensed as incurred. 
 
(s) Share Based Payment Transactions 
 
The Company’s Option and Performance Rights Plan and Employee Share Plan allows specified employees to acquire shares of the Company 
subject to any attached conditions being met. The grant date fair value of options granted to employees is recognised as an employee expense, 
with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the employees become unconditionally entitled to the options. The amount 
recognised is adjusted to reflect the number of share options that are expected to vest, except for those that fail to vest due to market conditions not 
being met. 
 
(t) Leases 
 
Finance leases, which transfer to the Consolidated Entity substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased item, are 
capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. 
 
Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the 
remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged directly against income. 
 
Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or the lease term. 
 
Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases.  Operating lease 
payments are recognised as an expense in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
(t)       Leases 
 
Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease 
 
At inception of an arrangement, the Consolidated Entity determines whether such an arrangement is or contains a lease. A specific asset is the 
subject of a lease if fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of the specified asset. An arrangement conveys the right to use the asset 
if the arrangement conveys to the Consolidated Entity the right to control the use of the underlying asset. At inception or upon reassessment of the 
arrangement, the Consolidated Entity separates payments and other consideration required by such an arrangement into those for the lease and 
those for other elements on the basis of their relative fair values. If the Consolidated Entity concludes for a finance lease that it is impracticable to 
separate the payment reliably, an asset and a liability are recognised at an amount equal to the fair value of the underlying asset. Subsequently the 
liability is reduced as payments are made and an imputed finance charge on the liability is recognised using the Consolidated Entity’s incremental 
borrowing rate. 
 
(u) Revenue 
 
Goods sold 
Revenue from the sale of gold is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of returns and allowances. Revenue is 
recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer, recovery of consideration is probable, the 
associated costs and possible return of goods can be measured reliably which is generally on receipt of funds from gold sales, and there is no 
continuing management involvement with the goods.  
 
(v) Income Tax 
 
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to 
items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity. 
 
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, 
and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. 
 
Deferred tax is recognised using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for the following temporary 
differences: the initial recognition of goodwill, the initial recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and 
that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit, and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to the extent 
that they probably will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the 
temporary differences when they reverse, based on laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.  
 
In determining the amount of current and deferred tax, the Consolidated Entity takes into account the impact of uncertain tax positions and whether 
additional taxes and interest may be due. The Consolidated Entity believes its accruals for tax liabilities are adequate for all open tax years based 
on its assessment of many factors, including interpretations of tax law and prior experience. This assessment relies on estimates and assumptions 
and may involve a series of judgments about future events. New information may become available that causes the Consolidated Entity to change 
its judgment regarding the adequacy of existing tax liabilities; such changes to tax liabilities will impact tax expense in the period that such a 
determination is made. 
 
A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which temporary differences 
can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related 
tax benefit will be realised. The Company recognises deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses of the tax-consolidated group to the extent 
that it is probable that future taxable profits of the tax-consolidated group will be available against which the asset can be utilised. 
 
Tax Consolidation 
The Company and its wholly-owned Australian resident entities have formed a tax-consolidated group with effect from 1 July 2002 and are therefore 
taxed as a single entity from that date.  The head entity within the tax-consolidated group is Tanami Gold NL. 
 
(w) Goods and Services Tax 
 
Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except where the amount of GST incurred is not 
recoverable from the taxation authority. In these circumstances, the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or part of the 
expense. 
 
Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is 
included as a current asset or liability in the balance sheet. 
 
Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing and financing 
activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are classified as operating cash flows. 
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(x) Issued Capital 
 
Issued and paid up capital is recognised at the fair value of the consideration received by the Company. Any transaction costs arising on the issue 
of ordinary shares are recognised directly in equity as a reduction of the proceeds received. 
 
(y) Trade and Other Payables 
 
Trade and other payables are stated at their amortised cost.   
 
(z) Earnings Per Share 
 
The Consolidated Entity presents basic earnings per share data for its ordinary shares. Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit 
attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. Diluted 
earnings per share is determined by adjusting the profit attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding, adjusted for shares held by the Company’s sponsored employee share plan trust, for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, 
which comprise share options granted to employees.  
 
(aa) Segment Reporting 
 
An operating segment is a component of the Consolidated Entity that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur 
expenses.  The Consolidated Entity operates in Western Australia and the Northern Territory, in the gold mining and exploration industries. All 
operating segments’ operating results are regularly reviewed by the Consolidated Entity’s Managing Director/CEO (or equivalent) to make decisions 
about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance, and for which discrete financial information is available. 
 
Segment results that are reported to the Managing Director/CEO (or equivalent) include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those 
that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly corporate assets, head office expenses, and income tax assets 
and liabilities. 
 
Segment capital expenditure is the total costs incurred during the period to acquire property, plant and equipment.  
 
(ab)     Financial Instruments 
 
Derivative financial instruments 
Derivatives are recognised initially at fair value and attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss when incurred. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value and changes therein are accounted for as described below.  
 
Non-trading derivatives 
When a derivative financial instrument is not held for trading, and is not designated in a qualifying hedge relationship, all changes in its fair value 
are recognised immediately in profit or loss. 
 
(ac)      Foreign Currency Transactions 
 
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities at exchange rates at the dates of the 
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated to the functional currency at the 
exchange rate at that date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between amortised cost in the functional currency 
at the beginning of the period, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the period, and the amortised cost in foreign currency translated 
at the exchange rate at the end of the year. 
 
(ad)      New Accounting Standards and Interpretations 
 
The following amended Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations relevant to the operations of the Consolidated Entity and effective 1 
July 2012 have been adopted from 1 July 2012. 
  

 AASB 2010-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets (AASB 112), effective 1 
July 2012; 

 AASB 2011-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Presentation of Other Comprehensive Income [AASB 1, 5, 7, 101, 112, 
120, 121, 132, 133, 134, 1039 & 1049], effective 1 July 2012. 
  

The adoption of these standards did not have any impact on the current period or any prior period and is not likely to affect future periods. 
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(ae)  Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued but not yet effective 
 
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet effective and have not been 
adopted by the Group for the year ended 30 June 2013. These are outlined in the table below.  The impact of these standards has not been 
determined on the financial statements. 
 

Reference Title Summary Application date of 
Standard 

Application date for 
Group 

AASB 2012-9 Amendment to AASB 
1048 arising from the 
withdrawal of Australian 
Interpretation 1039 

AASB 2012-9 amends AASB 1048 
Interpretation of Standards to evidence the 
withdrawal of Australian Interpretation 1039 
Substantive Enactment of Major Tax Bills in 
Australia. 

1 January 2013 1 July 2013 

AASB 10 Consolidated Financial 
Statements 

AASB 10 establishes a new control model 
that applies to all entities. It replaces parts of 
AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate 
Financial Statements dealing with the 
accounting for consolidated financial 
statements and UIG-112 Consolidation - 
Special Purpose Entities. The new control 
model broadens the situations when an 
entity is considered to be controlled by 
another entity and includes new guidance for 
applying the model to specific situations, 
including when acting as a manager may 
give control, the impact of potential voting 
rights and when holding less than a majority 
voting rights may give control. Consequential 
amendments were also made to this and 
other standards via AASB 2011-7 and AASB 
2012-10. 

1 January 2013 
 

1 July 2013 
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1.  Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 

Reference Title Summary Application date of 
Standard 

Application date for 
Group 

AASB 11 Joint Arrangements AASB 11 replaces AASB 131 Interests in 
Joint Ventures and UIG-113 Jointly- 
controlled Entities – Non-monetary 
Contributions by Ventures. 
AASB 11 uses the principle of control in 
AASB 10 to define joint control, and 
therefore the determination of whether joint 
control exists may change. In addition it 
removes the option to account for jointly 
controlled entities (JCEs) using 
proportionate consolidation. Instead, 
accounting for a joint arrangement is 
dependent on the nature of the rights and 
obligations arising from the arrangement. 
Joint operations that give the venturers a 
right to the underlying assets and obligations 
themselves is accounted for by recognising 
the share of those assets and obligations. 
Joint ventures that give the venturers a right 
to the net assets is accounted for using the 
equity method. Consequential amendments 
were also made to other standards via AASB 
2011-7 and amendments to AASB 128. 

1 January 2013 
 

1 July 2013 

AASB 12 Disclosure of Interests in 
Other Entities 

AASB 12 includes all disclosures relating to 
an entity’s interests in subsidiaries, joint 
arrangements, associates and structures 
entities. New disclosures have been 
introduced about the judgments made by 
management to determine whether control 
exists, and to require summarised 
information about joint arrangements, 
associates and structured entities and 
subsidiaries with non-controlling interests. 

1 January 2013 
 

1 July 2013 

AASB 2012-2 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards - 
Disclosures - Offsetting 
Financial Assets and 
Financial Liabilities 

AASB 2012-2 principally amends AASB 7 
Financial Instruments: Disclosures to require 
disclosure of information that will enable 
users of an entity's financial statements to 
evaluate the effect or potential effect of 
netting arrangements, including rights of 
setoff associated with the entity's recognised 
financial assets and recognised financial 
liabilities, on the entity's financial position. 

1 January 2013 1 July 2013 

AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement AASB 13 establishes a single source of 
guidance for determining the fair value of 
assets and liabilities. AASB 13 does not 
change when an entity is required to use fair 
value, but rather, provides guidance on how 
to determine fair value when fair value is 
required or permitted. Application of this 
definition may result in different fair values 
being determined for the relevant assets. 
AASB 13 also expands the disclosure 
requirements for all assets or liabilities 
carried at fair value. This includes 
information about the assumptions made 
and the qualitative impact of those 
assumptions on the fair value determined. 
Consequential amendments were also made 
to other standards via AASB 2011-8. 

1 January 2013 
 

1 July 2013 



 TANAMI GOLD NL 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 (CONTINUED) 

36 
 

 
1.  Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 

Reference Title Summary Application date of 
Standard 

Application date for 
Group 

AASB 119 Employee Benefits The main change introduced by this 
standard is to revise the accounting for 
defined benefit plans. The amendment 
removes the options for accounting for the 
liability, and requires that the liabilities 
arising from such plans are recognized in full 
with actuarial gains and losses being 
recognised in other comprehensive income. 
It also revised the method of calculating the 
return on plan assets. The revised standard 
changes the definition of short-term 
employee benefits. The distinction between 
short-term and other long-term employee 
benefits is now based on whether the 
benefits are expected to be settled wholly 
within 12 months after the reporting date. 
Consequential amendments were also made 
to other standards via AASB 2011-10. 

1 January 2013 
 

1 July 2013 

AASB 2011-4 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards to 
Remove Individual Key 
Management Personnel 
Disclosure Requirements 
[AASB 124] 

This amendment deletes from AASB 124 
individual key management personnel 
disclosure requirements for disclosing 
entities that are not companies. 

1 July 2013 1 July 2014 

Interpretation 20 Stripping Costs in the 
Production Phase of a 
Surface Mine 

This interpretation applies to stripping costs 
incurred during the production phase of a 
surface mine. Production stripping costs are 
to be capitalised as part of an asset, if an 
entity can demonstrate that it is probable 
future economic benefits will be realised, the 
costs can be reliably measured and the 
entity can identify the component of an ore 
body for which access has been improved. 
This asset is to be called the "stripping 
activity asset". 

1 January 2013 
 

1 July 2013 

AASB 2012-5 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards 
arising from Annual 
Improvements 2009-2011 
Cycle 

AASB 2012-5 makes amendments resulting 
from the 2009-2011 Annual Improvements 
Cycle. The standard addresses a range of 
improvements, including the following: 
 

 Repeat application of AASB 1 is 
permitted (AASB 1); and 
 

 Clarification of the comparative 
information requirements when an 
entity provides a third balance 
sheet (AASB 101 Presentation of 
Financial Statements). 

1 January 2013 
 

1 July 2013 

AASB 2012-3 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards - 
Offsetting Financial Assets 
and Financial Liabilities 

AASB 2012-3 adds application guidance to 
AASB 132 Financial Instruments:  
 

 Presentation to address 
inconsistencies identified in 
applying some of the offsetting 
criteria of AASB 132, including 
clarifying the meaning of "currently 
has a legally enforceable right of 
set-off" and that some gross 
settlement systems may be 
considered equivalent to net 
settlement. 

1 January 2014 
 

1 July 2015 
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1.  Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
AASB 9 Financial Instruments AASB 9 includes requirements for the 

classification and measurement of financial 
assets.  It was further amended by AASB 
2010-7 to reflect amendments to the 
accounting for financial liabilities. These 
requirements improve and simplify the 
approach for classification and measurement 
of financial assets compared with 
requirements of AASB 139.  The main 
changes are described below: 
 
(a) Financial assets that are debt 
instruments will be classified based on (1) 
the objective of the entity’s business model 
for managing the financial assets; (2) the 
characteristics of the contractual cash flows. 
 
(b)  Allows an irrevocable election on initial 
recognition to present gains and losses on 
investments in equity instruments that are 
not held for trading in other comprehensive 
income.  Dividends in respect of these 
investments that are a return on investment 
can be recognised in profit or loss and there 
is no impairment or recycling on disposal of 
the instrument. 
 
(c) Financial assets can be designated and 
measured at fair value through profit or loss 
at initial recognition if doing so eliminates or 
significantly reduces a measurement or 
recognition inconsistency that would arise 
from measuring assets or liabilities, or 
recognising the gains and losses on them, 
on different bases.  
 
Where the fair value option is used for 
financial liabilities the change in fair value is 
to be accounted for as follows: 
 
a) The change attributable to changes in 
credit risk are presented in other 
comprehensive income. 
 
b) The remaining change is presented in 
profit and loss.  If this approach creates or 
enlarges an accounting mismatch in the 
profit and loss, the effect of the changes in 
credit risk are also presented in the profit 
and loss. 

Further amendments were made by AASB 
2012-6 which amends the mandatory 
effective date to annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2015.  AASB 
2012-6 also modifies the relief from restating 
prior periods by amending AASB 7 to require 
disclosures on transition to AASB 9 in some 
circumstances. 

Consequential amendments were also made 
to other standards as a result of AASB 9, 
introduced by AASB 2009-11 and 
superseded by AASB 2010-7 and 2010-10. 
 

1 January 2015 1 July 2015 
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1.  Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
AASB 1053 Application of Tiers of 

Australian Accounting 
Standards 

This standard establishes a differential 
financial reporting framework consisting of 
two tiers of reporting requirements for 
preparing general purpose financial 
statements: 
 
(a) Tier 1: Australian Accounting Standards. 

(b) Tier 2: Australian Accounting Standards - 
Reduced Disclosure Requirements. 

Tier 2 comprises the recognition, 
measurement and presentation 
requirements of Tier 1 and substantially 
reduced disclosures corresponding to those 
requirements. 

The following entities apply Tier 1 
requirements in preparing general purpose 
financial statements: 

(a) For-profit entities in the private sector 
that have public accountability (as defined in 
this standard). 

(b) The Australian Government and State, 
Territory and Local governments. 

The following entities apply either Tier 2 or 
Tier 1 requirements in preparing general 
purpose financial statements: 

(a) For-profit private sector entities that do 
not have public accountability.  

(b) All not-for-profit private sector entities. 
 
(c) Public sector entities other than the 
Australian Government and State, Territory 
and Local governments. 

Consequential amendments to other 
standards to implement the regime were 
introduced by AASB 2010-2, 2011-2, 2011-
6, 2011-11, 2012-1, 2012-7 and 2012-11. 

Further amendments were made by AASB 
2012-6 which amends the mandatory 
effective date to annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2015.  

AASB 2012-6 also modifies the relief from 
restating prior periods by amending AASB 7 
to require additional disclosures on transition 
to AASB 9 in some circumstances. 

Consequential amendments were also made 
to other standards as a result of AASB 9, 
introduced by AASB 2009-11 and 
superseded by AASB 2010-7 and 2010-10. 

1 July 2013 1 July 2014 
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2. Determination of fair values 
 
a)       The fair value of investments in quoted equity securities is determined by reference to their quoted closing bid price at the reporting date. 
 
3. REVENUE & OTHER INCOME 

2013 2012
$'000 $'000

From operating activities
Gold sales 51,469           65,343           

51,469           65,343           

Other income 366                14,497           
51,835           79,840           

Consolidated

 
 
4. MINE COSTS 

 

2013 2012
$'000 $'000

Mine costs (i) 83,733           74,503           

which includes:
Mining 28,380           35,601           
Processing 10,012           12,022           
Site administration 5,340             5,161             
Depreciation - plant and equipment 4,397             3,521             
Amortisation - mine development 14,198           18,198           
Impairment (ii) 21,406           -                 

83,733           74,503           

Consolidated

 
 

(i) Mine costs relate to the development and production of the Coyote Gold Project, the mining of the Bald Hill Open Pits, ore 
processing and site administration.  Mine costs includes depreciation, amortisation and impairment.  
 

(ii) Management of the Group has identified one CGU, the Coyote Gold Project.  Having considered the impact of the following 
impairment indicators the Company determined the CGU to be impaired: 

 
 The value of the Company’s net assets by comparison to the Company’s market capitalisation at 30 June 2013; 
 The significant fall in the gold price during the 2013 financial year; and 
 The placing of the CGU under care and maintenance in April 2013. 

 
The Company carried out impairment testing by comparing the CGU recoverable amount (fair value less costs to sell) represented by current 
market prices against the carrying value of the CGU net assets.  As a result, the Company quantified an impairment loss of $21.4 million which 
has been reflected in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income. 
 

2013 2012
$'000 $'000

CGU Impairment includes:
Inventory 1,233             
Buildings 3,295             -                 
Plant & equipment 4,669             -                 
Motor vehicles 214                -                 
Furniture & fittings 124                -                 
Mine development costs 10,434           -                 
Rehabilitation asset 1,437             -                 
Total CGU impairment loss 21,406           -                 

Consolidated
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5. PERSONNEL EXPENSES 

2013 2012

$'000 $'000

Wages and salaries 25,095 25,518

Redundancy costs 4,107 -                 

Superannuation costs 1,873 1,643

(Decrease)/Increase in liability for annual leave (769) 199

Share based payments 695 682

Total personal expenses 31,002 28,042

Less: expenditure capitalised to exploration and evaluation assets (3,266) (2,942)

27,736 25,100

Consolidated

 
 
 

6. FINANCE INCOME AND EXPENSE 

2013 2012
$'000 $'000

Finance income:
Interest income 212 316

Gain in fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - 3,307
Foreign exchange gain 321 -
Finance income 533 3,623

Finance expense:
Loss on sale of financial assets - (280)
Interest - borrowings (1,897) (1,672)
Borrowing costs (4,602) (3,618)
Net change in fair value of available for sale financial assets (1,097) (2,241)
Unwind of discount on site restoration provision (76) (128)
Foreign exchange loss - (524)
Finance expense (7,672) (8,463)
Net finance expense (7,139) (4,840)

Consolidated
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7. TAXATION 

2013 2012
$'000 $'000

Major components of income tax expense are as follows:

Income statement
Current income tax expense/(benefit)
Current income tax charge - -

Prior year adjustment (28) (27)

Deferred income tax expense
Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences (19,682) (1,058)
Deferred tax assets not recognised in the current period 19,710 1,085
Income tax benefit/(expense) reported in income statement - -

The components of recognised deferred tax balance are as follows:
CONSOLIDATED
Deferred tax liabilities
Exploration 1,742 6,336
Consumables 577 1,168
Accrued income 22 153
Investments - 353
Unrealised foreign exchange gains - -
Deferred tax asset offset against deferred tax liability (2,341) (8,010)
Gross deferred income tax liabilities - -

Deferred tax assets
Provisions 1,874 1,980
Accruals 40 48
Property, plant and equipment 427 5,982
Deferred tax asset offset against deferred tax liability (2,341) (8,010)
Gross deferred income tax assets - -

Reconciliation to income tax benefit on account loss
Loss before income tax (66,308) (4,304)
Prima facie tax payable at the statutory income tax rate (19,892) (1,291)

Non-deductible expenses
Prior period adjustment (28) -
Share based payments 209 205
Other 1 1
Deferred tax assets not recognised 19,710 1,085
Tax losses recouped not previously booked - -
Income tax (benefit)/expense - -

Deferred tax asset (30%) not recognised arising on:
Tax losses 51,879 42,839
Temporary differences 19,202 7,562

71,081 50,401

Consolidated
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8. AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION 

2013 2012
$ $

Audit services
Amounts paid, or due and payable, to the auditor KPMG for:
Audit and review of the financial statements 204,703 148,644

204,703 148,644

Other services
Employee share option advice - 3,300
Employee share scheme advice - 2,900
Employee redundancy review 10,045 -
Employee tax advice 3,950 -
Total other services 13,995 6,200

Consolidated

 
 
9. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 

Cash at bank and on hand 1,623             2,815             
1,623             2,815             

 
 
The Consolidated Entity’s exposure to interest rate risk and a sensitivity analysis for financial assets and liabilities are disclosed in note 28. 

 
10. OTHER RECEIVABLES 

2013 2012
$'000 $'000

Current
GST receivable 68                  719                
Prepayments 422                328                
Other debtors 104                762                
Interest receivable 15                  5                   

609                1,814             

Non-current
Other debtors (a) 5,363             5,396             
Limited recourse loans (b) 156                -                 

5,519             5,396             

Consolidated

 
 

(a) Non-current other debtors represent term deposits placed in support of environmental performance bonds lodged with the Minister for State 
Development (WA) $2,350,000 (2012: $2,336,000), Newmont Australia Limited $1,105,000 (2012: $1,105,000) and the Department of 
Resources (NT) $1,777,426 (2012: $1,777,426). In addition, $130,593 (2012: $177,295) has been held as a rental bond for the corporate office 
and excess funds of $383 (2012: $574) are held in term deposit with the National Australia Bank Limited for future bond requirements. 
 

(b) In March 2013, the Company put in place limited recourse loans to the value of $155,834.  These loans were used to assist employees, who 
held 779,712 20 cent options and associated rights, with the conversion of their options into shares for the purpose of participating in the 
Company’s 5:4 fully underwritten pro-rata renounceable entitlements issue announced on 4 February 2013.   

 

Subject to Board discretion: 
 

 The shares resulting from these loans cannot be sold or transferred until the loans are repaid in accordance with the terms and 
conditions of the underlying loan agreements; and  
 

 Should any of the employees to which the loans relate cease to be an employee of the Company then the loans are immediately 
repayable in accordance with the terms and conditions of the underlying loan agreements.  

 
These loans did not result in any cash outflow for the Company and have a 24 month term. 
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11. AVAILABLE FOR SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS 

2013 2012
$'000 $'000

Available for sale financial assets:
Quoted equity shares 1,881 6,084

Consolidated

 
 
The Company has a remaining investment of 78,392,301 listed equity shares in ABM Resources NL.  Subsequent to initial recognition, these 
shares are measured at fair value being the published price quotation in an active market. Changes therein are recognised in other comprehensive 
income and presented in the unrealised gain/(loss) reserve in equity.  The fair value movement in the asset during the period was a loss of 
$1,097,492 (2012: $2,241,445) which has been recognised as the net change in fair value of available for sale financial assets in the Consolidated 
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income. 
 
12. INVENTORIES 

2013 2012
$'000 $'000

Current
Stockpile 79 2,095
Raw material and stores 3,154 3,867
Impairment of Inventory (1,233) -
Gold in circuit - 1,861
Bullion 483 890

2,484 8,713

Consolidated

 
In line with accounting policy note 1(l), inventories are stated at lower of cost or net realisable value.  An impairment of loss of $1,232,534 has been 
recognised against stores inventory at 30 June 2013 (see note 4).     
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

2013 2012

$'000 $'000

Buildings at cost 7,958 7,958

Less: accumulated depreciation (601) (481)

Less: accumulated impairment (6,429) (3,134)

928 4,343

Plant and equipment at cost 56,167 53,405

Less: accumulated depreciation (19,581) (15,226)

Less: accumulated impairment (29,248) (24,579)

7,338 13,600

Motor vehicles at cost 2,069 1,786

Less: accumulated depreciation (1,657) (1,428)

Less: accumulated impairment (214) -

198 358

Furniture and fittings at cost 1,435 1,478

Less: accumulated depreciation (1,269) (1,109)

Less: accumulated impairment (124) -

42 369

Mine development costs 72,127 56,913

Less: accumulated depreciation (61,693) (47,665)

Less: accumulated impairment (10,434) -

- 9,248

Rehabilitation asset 1,670 1,002

Less: accumulated depreciation (233) (63)

Less: accumulated impairment (1,437) -

- 939

Capital works in progress 73 1,418

Total property, plant and equipment 8,579 30,275

Consolidated
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13.     PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 

2013 2012

$'000 $'000

Consolidated

 

Reconciliation

Reconciliation of carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment 
are set out below:

Buildings

Carrying amount at beginning of financial year 4,343 4,467

Depreciation (115) (119)

Depreciation capitalised in exploration and evaluation asset (5) (5)

Impairment loss (3,295) -

Carrying amount at end of financial year 928 4,343

Plant and equipment

Carrying amount at beginning of financial year 13,600 11,215

Additions 3,154 6,074

Disposals (393) (385)

Accumulated depreciation on disposals 268 385

Depreciation (3,968) (3,082)

Depreciation capitalised in exploration and evaluation asset (654) (607)

Impairment (4,669) -

Carrying amount at end of financial year 7,338 13,600

Motor vehicles

Carrying amount at beginning of financial year 358 485

Transfers/additions 283 68

Disposals - (76)

Accumulated depreciation on disposals - 73

Depreciation (185) (178)

Depreciation capitalised in exploration and evaluation asset (44) (14)

Impairment (214) -

Carrying amount at end of financial year 198 358

Furniture and fittings

Carrying amount at beginning of financial year 369 544

Additions 42 -

Disposals (85) (3)

Accumulated depreciation on disposals - 1

Depreciation (128) (141)

Depreciation capitalised in exploration and evaluation asset (32) (32)

Impairment (124) -

Carrying amount at end of financial year 42 369
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13.     PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 

2013 2012

$'000 $'000

Consolidated

 

Mine development costs

Carrying amount at beginning of financial year 9,248 13,229

Additions: capitalised underground mine development costs 14,966 14,154

Additions: capitalised Bald Hill stripping costs 248 -

Amortisation (14,028) (18,135)

Impairment (10,434) -

Carrying amount at end of financial year - 9,248

Rehabilitation asset

Carrying amount at beginning of financial year 939 298                

Additions 668 704                

Amortisation (170) (63)

Impairment (1,437) -

Carrying amount at end of financial year -                 939

Capital works in progress

Carrying amount at beginning of financial year 1,418 2,284

Additions 3,306 5,276

Transfers to other asset classes (4,651) (6,142)

Carrying amount at end of financial year 73 1,418

Total property plant and equipment

Carrying amount at beginning of financial year 30,275 32,522

Additions 18,017 20,134

Disposals (478) (464)

Accumulated depreciation on disposals 268 459

Depreciation (4,397) (3,520)

Depreciation capitalised in exploration and evaluation asset (735) (658)

Amortisation (14,198) (18,198)

Impairment (20,173) -

Carrying amount at end of financial year 8,579 30,275

 
 
14. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION EXPENDITURE 
Exploration and evaluation costs carried forward in respect of areas of interest 74,043 72,318

(a)    Reconciliation

Carrying amount at beginning of the year 72,318 49,483
Expenditure during the year 19,849 22,904
Expenditure written off (i) (18,124) (69)

74,043 72,318

 
(i) The ultimate recoupment of exploration and evaluation expenditure is dependent upon successful development and commercial exploitation, 

or alternatively, sale of the respective areas.  In accordance with its accounting policies, the Company undertook a detailed review of its 
capitalised exploration expenditure for the year ended 30 June 2013 and determined that certain components of this expenditure should be 
written off.  No Resources have been delineated to date within these areas and or the Company has higher priority targets for the application 
of its exploration budget.  During the year the Company wrote off expenditure totalling $18,124,354 (2012: $69,104). 
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15. INTEREST BEARING LIABILITIES 

2013 2012
$'000 $'000

Current
Finance lease liabilities (i) 548 599
Loan (ii) 9,077 -

9,625 599

Non-Current
Finance lease liabilities (i) 319 869
Loan (ii) - 27,552

319 28,421

Consolidated

 
(i)  Finance liabilities of the group are as follows: 
 

 Future 
minimum 

lease 
payments Interest 

Present value 
of minimum 

lease 
payments 

Future 
minimum 

lease 
payments Interest 

Present value 
of minimum 

lease 
payments 

In thousands of dollars 2013 2013 2013 2012 2012 2012 
Less than one year 592 44 548 697 98 599 
Between two and five years 330 11 319 924 55 869 
 922 55 867 1,621 153 1,468 

 
The finance lease liabilities are denominated in Australian dollars with interest rates from 4.89% per annum to 7.95% per annum and will mature 
from 2013 to 2015. 
 
(ii) Loan (unsecured) 
 
 Effective Interest Rate Maturity 30 June 2013 30 June 2012 
   Carrying Amount 

$’000 
Carrying Amount 

$’000 
A$ 9.0 million (a) 30 June 2014 9,077 27,552 
   9,077 27,552 
 
(a) At 30 June 2013, the Company had drawn down A$9.0 million of its A$15.0 million unsecured loan facility with Sun Hung Kai International 

Bank (Brunei) Limited which has an interest rate of 6% per annum, a refundable facility fee of 3% per annum (where facility fees payable in 
advance are refunded on a prorated basis if loan repayments are made) and a non-refundable facility fee of 3% per annum. The unsecured 
A$15.0 million loan is due for repayment on 30 June 2014, subsequently extended to 31 March 2015. 
 
 

16. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
 

2013 2012
$'000 $'000

Current 
Trade creditors 370 5,512
Other creditors and accruals 2,509 7,475

2,879 12,987

Consolidated

 
The Consolidated Entity’s exposure to currency and liquidity risk related to trade and other payables is disclosed in note 28. 
 
 
17. PROVISIONS 

2013 2012
$'000 $'000

Current 
Employee entitlements 648 1,408
Onerous lease contract 288 -

936 1,408

Non-current
Employee entitlements 82 678
Site and mine restoration 5,230 4,514

5,312 5,192

Consolidated
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17.      PROVISIONS (CONTINUED) 

2013 2012
$'000 $'000

Consolidated

 
Reconciliation of site and mine restoration
Opening Balance at 1 July 4,514 4,032
Provision made during year 668 705
Provision utilised during the year (28) (351)
Unwind of discount 76 128
Balance at 30 June 5,230 4,514  
 
Annual Leave 
Current employee entitlements comprise annual leave that is expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date and represents present 
obligations resulting from employees' services provided to reporting date. Current employee entitlements are calculated at undiscounted amounts 
based on remuneration wage and salary rates that the Consolidated Entity expects to pay as at reporting date including related on-costs, such as 
workers compensation insurance and payroll tax. 
 
Site and mine restoration 
In accordance with the Consolidated Entity's environmental policy and applicable legal requirements, a provision for site restoration and mine 
rehabilitation is recognised when the land is disturbed.  The basis of accounting is set out in note 1(j) of the significant policies. 
 
Long service leave 
Long service leave that is due and payable is disclosed as a current employee provision.  
 
 
18.   ISSUED CAPITAL 

2013 2012
$'000 $'000

Share capital
587,548,524 (2012: 261,132,677) ordinary shares, fully paid 306,661 244,189

306,661 244,189

Movements in issued capital
Balance at 1 July 244,189 244,794
Shares issued

Reinstatement of limited recourse loans (i) 310 (605)
New limited recourse loans (ii) 156 -
326,415,847 shares (2012: 135,000) 65,127 -
Transaction costs arising from issue of shares (3,121) -

Balance at 30 June 306,661 244,189

Consolidated

 
 

(i) At 30 June 2012, the Company derecognised $605,000 of shares previously issued to employees by way of limited recourse loans.  
During the year the Company received partial repayment of the loans and wrote back $310,000. 
 

(ii) The new limited recourse loan details are set out in note 10(b). 
 
 
19.      ACCUMULATED LOSSES 
 

2013 2012
$'000 $'000

Accumulated losses at July (166,540) (162,214)
Net loss for the year (66,308) (4,326)
Accumulated losses at June (232,848) (166,540)

Consolidated

 
 

20. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
 
On or about 17 January 2013, a claim was brought against the Company in the District Court of Western Australia in the amount of $424,144 plus 
ongoing expenses of $40,000 per month (ex GST) from 27 June, 2012 in relation to the hire and use by the Company of certain mining equipment 
for the Coyote Gold Project.   
 
The Company has filled a Defence and Counterclaim for damages of approximately $1.1 million plus interest and costs. 
 
The matter is scheduled for a Mediation Conference 25 September, 2013.  If the matter does not settle at the Mediation then the Company will 
consider an application for change of venue to the Supreme Court on jurisdictional grounds. 
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21. COMMITMENTS 
 
a) Exploration Expenditure 
 
The Consolidated Entity has certain obligations to perform minimum exploration work on mineral leases held.  These obligations may vary over 
time, depending on the Consolidated Entity’s exploration program and priorities.  These obligations are also subject to variations by negotiation, 
joint venturing or relinquishing some of the relevant tenements.  As at balance date, total exploration expenditure commitments of the Consolidated 
Entity which have not been provided for in the financial statements are outlined below. The Consolidated Entity’s tenement commitment can be 
reduced by obtaining expenditure exemptions and/or relinquishment of tenements. 
 
Exploration Expenditure Commitments 

2013 2012
$'000 $'000

Within one year 2,558 2,468

Consolidated

 
b) Operating lease 
 
The Consolidated Entity leases the corporate office under an operating lease. The Company signed a new operating lease which runs for 1.5 years 
commencing on 22 January 2013 and expiring on 31 July 2014. Lease payments are adjusted annually to reflect market rentals. During the year 
ended 30 June 2013 $475,431 (2012: $348,664) was recognised as an expense in the income statement in respect to the operating lease. 
 
Operating Lease Commitments 

2013 2012
$'000 $'000

Within one year 532 192
Between two and five years 48 -

580 192

Consolidated

 
 

22. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS 
 
Options 

 
During the prior year the following options were issued:  
 

Exercise Price ($) Number of Options Grant Date Expiry Date 
$0.90 87,500 29 March 2012 28 March 2017 
$1.00 87,500 29 March 2012 28 March 2017 

 
During the year 116,668 options lapsed unexercised. 
 
During the year the following options were forfeited: 

 
Exercise Price ($) Number of Options Grant Date Expiry Date 

$0.90 325,000 29 March 2012 28 March 2017 
$1.00 2,037,500 29 March 2012 28 March 2017 
$1.10 500,000 29 March 2012 28 March 2017 

 
During the year, no options were exercised. 
 
At 30 June 2013 there were 2,537,500 unissued ordinary shares in respect of which unquoted options were outstanding as follows: 
 

Grant Date Expiry Date Type Exercise Price 
2013 

Number 
2012 

Number 
23 November 2007 22 November 2012 Unquoted $6.00 - 58,334 
23 November 2007 22 November 2012 Unquoted $4.50 - 58,334 
22 December 2011 21 December 2016 Unquoted $1.34 300,000 300,000 

29 March 2012 28 March 2017 Unquoted Tranche 1 $0.90 1,975,000 2,212,500 
29 March 2012 28 March 2017 Unquoted Tranche 2 $1.00 262,500 2,212,500 
29 March 2012 28 March 2017 Unquoted Tranche 3 $1.10 - 500,000 

(The options in this table relate to all Company employees)  2,537,500 5,341,668 

 
On 22 December 2011 300,000 options were granted on 22 December 2011 to Mr Alan Senior, a former Director of the Company.  The options 
were valued using the Black Scholes option valuation model and the option term is 5 years from the date of grant.  The options will expire on 21 
December 2016 and not before. 
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22.      SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
The significant assumptions used in the valuation at that time were: 

 Volatility: 90%; 
 Risk free rate: 4.25% per annum; 
 Underlying security spot price: $0.705; 
 Exercise price: $1.34; and 
 Valuation per option: $0.434. 

 
The options granted on 29 March 2012 were valued using the Black Scholes option valuation methodology and the option term is 5 years from the 
date of grant.  The significant assumptions used in the valuations at that time were: 

 Volatility: 85%; 
 Risk free rate: 2.66% per annum; 
 Underlying security spot price: $0.795; 
 Exercise price: $0.90, $1.00 for Tranche 1 and Tranche 2 respectively; and 
 Valuation per option: $0.524 and $0.510. 

 

 
2013 
$’000 

2012 
$’000 

Amounts expensed for options issued  658,792 $451,592 

 
Summary of option movements for the financial year: 

Number of options at 30 June 2013 

Grant Date 
Exercise Date 

on or after 
Expiry Date 

Exercise 
Price 

Number of 
options at 
beginning 

of year 

Options 
Granted 

Options  
Expired/ 
Forfeited 

Options 
Exercised 

On Issue Vested 

23 Nov 2007 23 Nov 2008 22 Nov 2012 $4.50 58,334 - 58,334 - - - 
23 Nov 2007 23 Nov 2009 22 Nov 2012 $6.00 58,334 - 58,334 - - - 
22 Dec 2011 22 Dec 2011 21 Dec 2016 $1.34 300,000 - - - 300,000 300,000 
29 Mar 2012 29 Mar 2013 28 Mar 2017 $0.90 2,212,500 87,500 325,000 - 1,975,000 1,975,000 
29 Mar 2012 29 Mar 2014 28 Mar 2017 $1.00 2,212,500 87,500 2,037,500 - 262,500 - 
29 Mar 2012 29 Mar 2015 28 Mar 2017 $1.10 500,000 - 500,000 - - - 

(The options in this table relate to all Company employees) 
 
23.      KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES  
 
a) Details of Key Management Personnel 
 
(i) Specified Directors 
Gerard McMahon (Non-Executive Chairman) (appointed April 2013) 
Arthur Dew (Non-Executive Director) (appointed December 2011) 
Seng Hui Lee (Non-Executive Director) (appointed March 2008) 
Carlisle Procter (Non-Executive Director) (appointed December 2011) 
Brett Montgomery (Non-Executive Director) (appointed February 2013) 
Denis Waddell (Deputy Chairman/Executive Director) (appointed July 1995, resigned November 2012) 
Alan Senior (Non-Executive Director) (appointed July 2007, resigned November 2012) 
 
(ii) Specified Executives 
Andrew Czerw (General Manager) (appointed January 2012) 
Jon Latto (Company Secretary/Chief Financial Officer) (appointed November 2007) 
 
b) Remuneration of Key Management Personnel 
 
The key management personnel compensation included in 'personnel expenses'
(see note 5) is as follows: 2013 2012

$ $
In AUD
Short-term employee benefits 1,384,767 1,998,571
Post-employment benefits 78,593 90,504
Share-based payments 230,648 296,922
Total 1,694,008 2,385,997

Consolidated

 
(i) Individual directors and executives compensation disclosures 
 
Information regarding individual director’s and executive’s compensation and some equity instruments disclosures as required by Corporations 
Regulations 2M.3.03 and 2M.6.04 is provided in the Remuneration Report section of the Directors’ Report. 
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23.      KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED) 
 
From 1 July 2012 to 15 November 2012, Mr Waddell provided consulting services on corporate and operational matters to Tanami Gold NL. These 
services were provided on arms-length, commercial terms as and when required by the Consolidated Entity.  From July 2012 to November 2012, Mr 
Waddell provided full time executive support to the Company. The combined cost of these services from 1 July 2012 to 15 November 2012 was 
$282,000 (2012: $404,000).  
 
Shareholdings of Directors and Key Management Personnel 
 
2013 

Ordinary Fully Paid Shares 
Balance 

1 July 2012 
Granted as 

Remuneration 

 
On Market 
Purchases/ 

(Sales) 

 
Net change 

other 
Balance 

30 June 2013 

Directors      
Mr G McMahon - - - - - 
Mr A Dew - - - - - 
Mr SH Lee* 61,378,788 - 81,439,946 - 142,818,734 
Mr C Procter - - - - - 
Mr B Montgomery - - - - - 
Former Directors    -  
Mr D Waddell** 5,772,134 - - **(5,772,134) - 
Mr A Senior** 66,705 - - **(66,705) - 
Other Key Management Personnel    -  
Mr A Czerw - - - - - 
Mr J Latto  73,334 - - 91,668 165,002 
Total 67,290,961 - 81,439,946 (5,747,171) 142,983,736 

 
* These shares are held by Allied Properties Resources Limited, a company in which Mr SH Lee (together with others as trustees of the Lee and 
Lee Trust) has an interest of 65.02% (2012: 64.90%).  Accordingly, Mr SH Lee is taken to have a relevant interest in the 142,818,734 (2012: 
61,378,788) shares held by Allied Properties Resources Limited. 
 
** Net change due to resignation 15 November 2012. 
 
Options of Directors and Key Management Personnel 
 
2013 

Options 
Balance 

1 July 2012 
Granted as 

Remuneration 
Options 
Forfeited 

Balance 
30 June 2013 

Vested 30 June 
2013 

Directors      
Mr G McMahon - - - - - 
Mr A Dew - - - - - 
Mr SH Lee - - - - - 
Mr C Procter - - - - - 
Mr B Montgomery - - - - - 
Former Directors      
Mr D Waddell - - - - - 
Mr A Senior 416,668 - (116,668) 300,000 300,000 
Other Key Management Personnel     - 
Mr A Czerw 1,500,000 - (1,000,000) 500,000 500,000 
Mr J Latto 500,000 - (250,000) 250,000 250,000 
Total 2,416,668 - (1,366,668) 1,050,000 1,050,000 
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23.     KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED) 
 
Shareholdings of Directors and Key Management Personnel 
 
2012 

Ordinary Fully Paid Shares 
Balance 

1 July 2011 
Granted as 

Remuneration 

On Market 
Purchases/ 

(Sales) 

 
Net change 

other 

Balance 
30 June 2012 

Directors      
Mr A Dew - - - - - 
Mr D Waddell 5,672,134 - 100,000 - 5,772,134 
Mr A Senior 66,705 - - - 66,705 
Mr SH Lee 70,697,899 - (9,319,111) - 61,378,788 
Mr C Procter - - - - - 
Other Key Management Personnel      
Mr A Czerw - - - - - 
Mr J Latto 73,334 - - - 73,334 
Mr R Walker 734,732  (130,646) (604,086) - 
Total 77,244,804 - (9,349,757) (604,086) 67,290,961 

 
Options of Directors and Key Management Personnel 
 
2012 

Options 
Balance 

1 July 2011 
Granted as 

Remuneration 
Options 
Forfeited 

Balance 
30 June 2012 

Vested 30 June 
2012 

Directors      
Mr A Dew - - - - - 
Mr D Waddell - - - - - 
Mr A Senior 116,668 300,000 - 416,668 416,668 
Mr SH Lee - - - - - 
Mr C Procter - - - - - 
Other Key Management Personnel     - 
Mr A Czerw - 1,500,000 - 1,500,000 - 
Mr J Latto 10,000 500,000 (10,000) 500,000 - 
Total 126,668 2,300,000 (10,000) 2,416,668 416,668 

 
All equity transactions with directors other than those arising from the exercise of remuneration options have been entered into under terms and 
conditions no more favourable than those the entity would have adopted if dealing at arm’s length. 
 
c) Other transactions with the Company or its controlled entities 
 
Specified directors hold positions in other entities that resulted in them having control or significant influence over the financial or operating policies 
of those entities. These entities transacted with the Company or its subsidiaries during the financial year.  The terms and conditions of those 
transactions were no more favourable than those available, or which might reasonably be expected to be available, on similar transactions to 
unrelated entities on an arm’s length basis. 
 
 
24. NON-KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL RELATED PARTIES DISCLOSURES 
 
Wholly-Owned Group 
 
Tanami Exploration NL and Tanami (NT) Pty Ltd are both wholly owned subsidiaries of Tanami Gold NL. 
 
Loan from Related Parties 
 
During the year ended 30 June 2013, the Company has continued to use its unsecured loan facility with Sun Hung Kai International Bank (Brunei) 
Limited (‘SHKIBBL’) to assist with funding its: 
 

 Care and maintenance costs at Coyote; 
 
 Redundancy payments associated with placing Coyote on care and maintenance; and 

 
 Additional working capital. 

 
During the year the Company repaid its unsecured loan facilities with AP Finance Limited.  In total the Company repaid HK$464.3 million 
(approximately A$57.7 million) to extinguish its debt (including accrued interest and charges) to AP Finance Limited.   
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24.      NON-KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL RELATED PARTIES DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED) 
 
The ultimate holding company of AP Finance Limited is Lee and Lee Trust, an entity associated with Mr Lee Seng Hui who is a Director of the 
Company. 
 
The Company has an unsecured loan facility with SHKIBBL for A$15.0 million.  As at 30 June 2013, the Company had drawn down A$9.0 million, 
leaving it with A$6.0 million in undrawn funds.  The Company’s unsecured loan facility with SHKIBBL has a repayment date of 31 March 2015.  
During the year ended 30 June 2013, the Company has paid A$37,479 interest and A$110,466 by way of facility fees to SHKIBBL.  
 
The ultimate holding company of SHKIBBL is Lee and Lee Trust, an entity associated with Mr Lee Seng Hui.  
 
25. SEGMENT INFORMATION 
 
The Consolidated Entity operates predominantly in the gold exploration and gold mining industry. 
 
Information about reportable segments 

In thousands AUD
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Revenues 51,469 65,343 - - 51,469 65,343
Interest Income 133 143 54 125 187 268
Interest Expense (175) (203) - - (175) (203)
Depreciation and amortisation (18,526) (21,719) (697) (659) (19,223) (22,378)
Impairment (21,405) - - - (21,405) -
Reportable segment loss before income tax (31,502) (8,518) (18,768) (566) (50,271) (9,084)
Reportable segment assets 10,613 38,754 80,233 79,582 90,845 118,336
Reportable segment liabilities 7,932 16,264 11,131 4,753 19,063 21,017
Capital Expenditure (3,266) (5,271) (40) (5) (3,306) (5,276)

Gold Production Exploration Total

 
Reconciliation of reportable segment revenues, profit or loss, assets and 
liabilities and other material items

2013 2012
$'000 $'000

Revenue and other income
Total revenue and other income for reportable segments 51,469 65,343
Consolidated revenue and other income 51,469 65,343

Profit or loss
Total loss or profit for reportable segments (50,271) (9,084)
Profit on sale of assets 1,320 -
Other loss or profit (411) 12,353
Unallocated amounts: other corporate expenses (16,946) (9,726)
Share of loss of equity accounted investees - (331)
Gain on dilution of shareholding in equity accounted investees - 2,484
Consolidated loss before income tax (66,308) (4,304)

Assets
Total assets for reportable segments 90,845 118,336
Other unallocated amounts 3,893 9,079
Consolidated total assets 94,738 127,415

Liabilities
Total liabilities for reportable segments 19,063 21,017
Other unallocated amounts 8 27,590
Consolidated total liabilities 19,071 48,607

Consolidated

 
Major customer 
 
During the year ended 30 June 2013, the Company sold gold on-market through third parties and is not able to identify the end customer.
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26. EARNINGS PER SHARE 
 

 Number of shares 
 2013 2012 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the denominator in the calculation of basic 
earnings per share 

371,550,115 261,045,759 

 
Basic earnings/(loss) per share 
The calculation of basic earnings per share at 30 June 2013 was based on the loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of $66,308,282 (2012: 
Loss $4,304,922) and a weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding of 371,550,115 (2012: 261,045,759), calculated as follows. 
 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 2013 2012 

Issued ordinary shares at 1 July 261,045,759 260,997,677 

Effect of shares issued in February 2012 - 48,082 

Effect of rights taken up under February 2013 entitlements issue 110,504,497 - 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 30 June 371,550,115 261,045,759 

 
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share 
Diluted loss per share for 2013 equals basic loss per share as the options on issue are considered anti-dilutive. 
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27. NOTES TO STATEMENT OF CASHFLOWS 
 
a) Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents 

 
For the purpose of the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, cash includes cash on hand and at bank and short term deposits at call, net of 
outstanding bank overdrafts. Cash as at the end of the financial year as shown in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the 
related items in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as follows: 

2013 2012

$'000 $'000

Cash assets 1,623 2,815

b)   Reconciliation of net cash flow from operating activities to net loss

Net loss (66,308) (4,304)

Add/(less) non-cash items

Exploration expenditure written off 18,124 69

Impairment loss 21,406 -

Depreciation 5,132 3,521

Amortisation 14,198 18,198

Foreign exchange gain/(loss) (321) 524

Unwinding of interest rate on provision for rehabilitation 76 128

Share based payments 695 682

Gain on dilution of shareholding in ABM Resources NL - (2,484)

Add/(less) items classified as investing/financing activities

Gain on disposal of fixed assets - (177)

Gain on derivative asset - (3,307)

Loss on sale of financial assets - 280

Share of loss of equity accounted investee (net of income tax) - 331

Net change in fair value of available for sale financial assets 1,097 2,241

Gain on sale of investment - (13,223)

Net cash (used)/provided by operating activities before changes in assets 
and liabilities

(5,901) 2,479

Changes in assets and liabilities during the financial year:

Decrease in receivables 1,284 1,103

Decrease in inventories 4,998 2,464

Increase in prepayments (2,080) (295)

(Decrease)/increase in provisions (717) 619

(Decrease)/increase in payables (3,946) 730

Net cash (used)/provided by operating activities (6,362) 7,100

Consolidated
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28. EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO BALANCE DATE 
 
During the period from 1 July 2013 to 2 September 2013, the Company progressively drew down its remaining A$6.0 million under its unsecured 
A$15.0 million loan facility with SHKIBBL. 
 
On 9 August 2013, the Company lodged a Mining Rehabilitation Fund (‘MRF’) application with the WA Department of Mines and Petroleum for the 
return of its $2.3 million Coyote rehabilitation bond.  The Company has opted to partake in the MRF early where the fund contribution rate is 
proposed to be 1 percent of the Coyote rehabilitation liability estimate.   
 
On 26 August 2013, the Company sold its remaining 78,392,301 shares in ABM at an average price of 3.4 cents per share receiving approximately 
$2.6 million.   
 
On 18 September 2013, the Company reached an agreement with AP Finance Limited for a new unsecured loan facility of approximately A$12.0 
million.   
 
On 24 September 2013, the Company signed a Supplementary Loan Agreement with SHKIBBL to extend the repayment of its existing A$15.0 
million loan facility from 30 June 2014 to 31 March 2015. 
 
 
29.      FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
Overview 
 
This note presents information about the Consolidated Entity’s exposure to credit, liquidity and market risks, their objectives, policies and processes 
for measuring and managing risk, and the management of capital. 
 
1. Credit Risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Consolidated Entity if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual 
obligations.  The Consolidated Entity is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily for trade receivables) and from its financing 
activities, including deposits with banks and financial institutions, foreign exchange transactions and other financial instruments. 
 
Presently, the Consolidated Entity undertakes mining, exploration and evaluation activities exclusively in Australia. At the balance sheet date there 
were no significant concentrations of credit risk. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
The Consolidated Entity limits its exposure to credit risk by only investing in liquid securities and only with counterparties that have an acceptable 
credit rating. 
 
Other receivables 
The Consolidated Entity’s revenue is derived (apart from immaterial recharges) from gold sales. Management does not expect any counterparty to a 
gold sale to fail to meet its obligations. 
 
Exposure to credit risk 
The carrying amount of the Consolidated Entity’s financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The Consolidated Entity’s maximum 
exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is: 
 

  2013 2012 
 Note $’000 $’000 
Cash and cash equivalents 9 1,623 2,815 
Other receivables 10 6,128 7,210 
Available for sale financial assets 11 1,881 6,084 

 
The Consolidated Entity is exposed to minimal credit risk in relation to the cash and cash equivalents or other receivables in the preceding table 
because: 
 
 The Consolidated Entity invests in or deposits cash with counterparties that have an acceptable credit risk rating, and as a result, 

Management consider that there is minimal credit risk attached to the Consolidated Entity's cash and cash equivalents balances; 
 

 The Consolidated Entity's other receivables predominantly relate to amounts payable from Government institutions which management 
consider is risk free. Of the $6,127,796 in other receivables, $5,232,426 relates to environmental performance bonds lodged with the Northern 
Territory Department Resources – Mineral and Energy, the Western Australian Minister of State Development and Newmont Australia Limited,  
$67,938 relates to GST receivables and $58,920 relates to fuel rebates; and 
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
1.      Credit Risk (continued) 
 
 Of the remaining $768,512 of the Consolidated Entity's other receivables, $155,834 relates to the limited recourse loan with employees, 

$22,881 relates to recharges to contractors engaged at the Coyote Gold Project and the Central Tanami Gold Project, $332,695 relates to 
insurance prepayments, $130,593 relates to a rental bond for the corporate office and the balance of $126,509 relates to miscellaneous 
receivables. These recharges, prepayments and rental bonds are on commercial terms, and as a result, Management consider that there is 
minimal risk associated with these amounts. 

 
2. Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Consolidated Entity will not be able to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due. The Consolidated 
Entity’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both 
normal and stressed conditions.   
 
The Consolidated Entity manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves and by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows.  
 
The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments and excluding the impact of netting 
agreements: 
 
Consolidated 30 June 2013 

 Carrying 
Amount    

$’000 

Contractual 
Cash Flows 

$’000 

6 Months Or 
Less 
$’000 

6-12 
Months 
$’000 

1-2 Years 
 

$’000 

2-5 Years 
 

$’000 

More Than 
5 Years 
$’000 

Finance lease liabilities 867 (922) (372) (220) (110) (220) - 
Loans (b) 9,077 (10,110) (539) (9,572) - - - 
Trade and other payables 2,879 (2,879) (2,879) - - - - 
 12,822 (13,911) (3,790) (9,792) (110) (220) - 

 
a. It is not expected that the cash flows included in the maturity analysis could occur significantly earlier, or at significantly different amounts. 
 
b. The loans shown in the preceding table relate to the Company’s drawdowns under its A$15.0 million unsecured loan facility with Sun Hung 

Kai International Bank (Brunei) Limited.  The loan had a repayment date of 30 June 2014, subsequent to year end at the request of the 
Company the repayment date has been extended by Sun Hung Kai International Bank (Brunei) Limited to 31 March 2015.  

 
Consolidated 30 June 2012 

 Carrying 
Amount    

$’000 

Contractual 
Cash Flows 

$’000 

6 Months Or 
Less 
$’000 

6-12 
Months 
$’000 

1-2 Years 
 

$’000 

2-5 Years 
 

$’000 

More Than 
5 Years 
$’000 

Finance lease liabilities 1,468 (1,619) (377) (320) (592) (330) - 
Loans 27,552 (39,067) (3,014) (2,879) (33,174) - - 
Trade and other payables 12,987 (12,987) (12,987) - - - - 
 42,007 (53,673) (16,378) (3,199) (33,766) (330) - 

 
3. Market Risk 
 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates, commodity prices and equity prices will affect the Consolidated Entity’s 
income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. Financial instruments affected by market risk include loans and borrowings, deposits, 
available for sale financial assets and derivative financial instruments. 
 

Currency Risk 
 
The Consolidated Entity has no foreign denominated debt (2012: A$27,551,703). 
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29.      FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 

Interest Rate Risk 
 
The Consolidated Entity is exposed to interest rate risk (primarily on its cash and cash equivalents), which is the risk that a financial instrument’s 
value will fluctuate as a result of changes in the market interest rate on interest-bearing financial instruments. The Consolidated Entity does not use 
derivatives to mitigate these exposures. 
 

 Consolidated Carrying Amount 
 2013 2012 
Fixed rate instruments $’000 $’000 
Finance lease liability 867 1,468 
Loans 9,077 27,552 
 9,944 29,020 
Variable rate instruments   
Cash and cash equivalents 1,623 2,815 
Other receivables* 5,323 5,396 
 6,946 8,211 

 
* Other receivables which are variable rate instruments are the term deposits placed in support of environmental performance bonds lodged with 
the Minister of State Development (WA) $2,350,000 (2012: $2,336,000), Newmont Australia Limited $1,105,000 (2012: $1,105,000), and the 
Department of Resources $1,777,426 (2012: $1,777,426). In addition, $130,593 (2012: $177,175) has been held as a rental bond for the corporate 
office. The term deposits mature on a monthly basis and their value is dependent on a variable interest rate. 
 
Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed instruments 
 
The Consolidated Entity does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. Therefore a change in 
interest rates at the reporting date would not affect profit or loss. 
 
Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments 
 
A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased (decreased) equity and profit or loss by the amounts 
shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2012. 
 

30 June 2013 Profit or loss Equity 
 100bp increase 100bp decrease 100bp increase 100bp decrease 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Interest income on cash balance 16 (16) 16 (16) 
Interest income on other receivables (term deposits) 54 (54) 54 (54) 
Cash flow sensitivity (net) 70 (70) 70 (70) 

 
30 June 2012 Profit or loss Equity 
 100bp increase 100bp decrease 100bp increase 100bp decrease 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Interest income on cash balance 28 (28) 28 (28) 
Interest income on other receivables (term deposits) 54 (54) 54 (54) 
Cash flow sensitivity (net) 82 (82) 82 (82) 

 
4. Fair Value 
 
Fair value versus carrying amounts 
 
The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the balance sheet, are as follows: 
 

Consolidated 30 June 2013 30 June 2012 
 Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Cash and cash equivalents 1,623 1,623 2,815 2,815 
Available for sale financial assets 1,881 1,881 6,084 6,084 
Other receivables 6,128 6,128 7,210 7,210 
Trade and other payables 2,879 2,879 12,847 12,847 
Finance lease liabilities 867 867 1,468 1,468 
Loans 9,077 9,077 27,552 27,552 
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29.      FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
5. Fair Value Hierarchy 
 
The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method.  The different levels have been defined as follows: 
 
 Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

 
 Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or 

indirectly  (i.e. derived from prices); and 
 

 Level 3: Inputs for the assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 
 

30 June 2013 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
     $’000     $’000     $’000     $’000 
Available for sale financial assets 1,881 - - 1,881 

 
30 June 2012 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
     $’000     $’000     $’000     $’000 
Available for sale financial assets 6,084 - - 6,084 

 
6. Commodity Price Risk 
 
For a significant portion of the year the Consolidated Entity was a gold producer and had exposure to the gold price. The Consolidated Entity 
operated so as to remain exposed to fluctuations in the gold price as is the current industry practice. The Consolidated Entity does not have any 
gold hedging contracts. 
 
The Consolidated Entity manages its exposure to commodity price risk by: 
 
 Actively monitoring gold prices on a daily basis;  

 
 Actively engaging with industry experts to assess and review forecast gold price movements, which are taken into consideration when 

decisions are made to sell gold produced; and 
 
 Entering into swap arrangements utilising advice from industry experts which provides the Consolidated Entity with opportunities to leverage 

into favourable gold price movements prior to completion of the refining process. 
 
Sensitivity analysis – gold price 
 

Judgement of reasonably possible movements 2013 2012 
 $’000 $’000 
Gold Price +50.00 AUD per ounce   
- Net profit/loss for the year higher/(lower) - 2,061 
- Total equity higher/(lower) - (2,061) 
   
Gold Price -50.00 AUD per ounce   
- Net profit/loss for the year higher/(lower) - (2,061) 
- Total equity higher/(lower) - 2,061 

 
7. Capital Management 
 
The Consolidated Entity’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Consolidated Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, so as 
to maintain a strong capital base sufficient to maintain future exploration and development of its projects. In order to maintain or adjust the capital 
structure, the Consolidated Entity may return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. The Consolidated Entity’s 
focus has been to raise sufficient funds through debt and or equity to fund development, exploration and evaluation activities.  
 
There were no changes in the Consolidated Entity’s approach to capital management during the year.  Risk management policies and procedures 
are established with regular monitoring and reporting. 
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29.      FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
The Consolidated Entity's debt-to-adjusted capital ratio at the end of the reporting period was as follows: 
 

Consolidated 2013 2012 
 $’000 $’000 
Total liabilities 18,783 48,607 
Less: Cash and cash equivalents (1,623) (2,815) 
 17,160 45,792 
   
Total equity 78,010 78,808 
Adjusted capital 78,010 78,808 
   
Debt-to-adjusted capital ratio at 30 June 0.22 0.58 

 
 
30. PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURES 
 
As at, and throughout, the financial year ended 30 June 2013 the parent company of the Consolidated Entity was Tanami Gold NL. 
 

2013 2012
$'000 $'000

Result of the parent entity
Loss for the year (64,141) (6,493)
Total comprehensive loss for the year (64,141) (6,493)

Financial position of the parent entity at year end
Current assets 1,711 292
Total assets 84,752 104,231

Current liabilities (9,084) (38)
Total liabilities (9,084) (27,590)

Total equity of the parent entity comprising of:
Issued capital 306,661 244,189
Accumulated losses (232,848) (168,707)
Share based payment reserve 1,854 1,159
Total equity 75,667 76,641
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In accordance with a resolution of the Directors of Tanami Gold NL (the Company), I state that: 

 
1. In the opinion of the directors: 

 
a) the consolidated financial statements and notes and the Remuneration report set out in note 13 in the Directors’ report are in 

accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 
 

i. giving a true and fair view of the Consolidated Entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2013 and of its performance for the 
financial year ended on that date; and 
 

ii. complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the 
Corporations Regulations 2001; and 

 
b) the financial statements and notes also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in Note 1(b) 

  
c) subject to note 1b, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they 

become due and payable 
 
2. This declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the Directors in accordance with section 295A of the 

Corporations Act 2001 for the financial year ended 30 June 2013. 
 
 
 

On behalf of the board 
 

 
 

 
Gerard McMahon 
Non-Executive Chairman 
 
Perth, Western Australia 
24 September 2013 






